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ACPS’ Vision

Our students achieve at high levels, are well-rounded, critical thinkers, and 
have a passion to learn.

ACPS has an engaging and collaborative climate that promotes ethical 
behavior and values diversity.

ACPS is a vital part of the fabric of our community, and Alexandria residents 
and businesses take pride in our schools.

Alexandria City Public Schools
A Component Unit of the City of Alexandria, Virginia
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FINANCIAL SECTION

ACPS’ goal #1
Academic Excellence and Educational Equity: Every student 
will be academically successful and prepared for life, work, and 

college.
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Introduction                                                          

Our discussion and analysis of Alexandria City Public Schools’ (ACPS) fi nancial performance 
provides an overview of ACPS’ fi nancial activities for the fi scal year ended June 30, 2018. The intent 
of this management discussion and analysis is to consider ACPS’ fi nancial performance as a whole. 
Readers should also review the letter of transmittal, basic fi nancial statements, notes to the basic 
fi nancial statements, and supplementary information to enhance their understanding of ACPS’ fi nancial 
performance.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is an element of the reporting model adopted by the 
Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) in Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements 
and Management’s Discussion and Analysis-for State and Local Governments, as amended. Certain 
comparative information between the current year and the prior year is required to be presented in the 
MD&A. The reporting model is a combination of both government-wide fi nancial statements and fund 
fi nancial statements.

Financial Highlights

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The fi nancial status of ACPS, as refl ected by net position, decreased by $8.2 million to a defi cit of 
$222.7 million at June 30, 2018. The total net position is comprised of $10.9 million net investment 
in capital assets, $0.2 million is restricted for grant programs and $4.9 million is restricted for health 
benefi ts reserves.  The unrestricted net position defi cit increased by $9.0 million, to a total defi cit of 
$238.7 million.

The increased defi cit in unrestricted net position refl ects the implementation of GASB Statement No. 75, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefi ts Other Than Pensions, which ACPS 
implemented in FY 2018. As a result of this pronouncement, ACPS recorded the net OPEB liability, 
deferred infl ows and outfl ows of resources, and OPEB expense for post-employment benefi ts for ACPS 
retirees and restated the FY 2018 beginning net position to a defi cit of $214.5 million. This Statement is 
discussed further in the following section and the Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.

On a government-wide basis for governmental activities, the school division’s expenses of $282.8 
million exceeded revenues of $274.6 million by $8.2 million.

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of the close of the current fi scal year, ACPS’ governmental funds reported combined ending fund 
balances of $26.1 million, a decrease of $12.0 million in comparison with the prior year. Of this $26.1 
million combined fund balance, $4.2 million is available as unassigned fund balance and may be 
designated for use at the discretion of the School Board or management.

At June 30, 2018, the General Fund reported an ending fund balance of $12.4 million, an increase of 
$0.2 million from the prior year. The fi scal year 2018 original budget included a planned use of fund 
balance in the amount of $5.0 million due to ongoing fi scal constraints.

Financial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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Overview of the Financial Statements

This Financial Section of the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report consists of four parts: 1) 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), 2) basic fi nancial statements (government-wide and 
fund statements) including notes to the fi nancial statements, 3) required supplementary information, 
and 4) other supplementary information. 

The basic fi nancial statements consist of two kinds of statements that present diff erent views of ACPS’ 
fi nancial activities. The government-wide fi nancial statements provide both long-term and short-term 
information about ACPS’ overall fi nancial status. The fund fi nancial statements report ACPS’ operations 
in more detail than the government-wide statements. 

The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities provide information on a government-wide 
basis. These statements present an aggregate view of ACPS’ fi nancial position. Government-wide 
statements contain useful long-term information as well as information for the just completed fi scal year.

The remaining statements are fund fi nancial statements that focus on the individual funds of ACPS, 
providing primarily short-term information. Fund statements report operations in more detail than 
government-wide statements.

The notes to the fi nancial statements explain some of the information in the statements and provide 
additional disclosures so that statement users have a complete picture of ACPS’ fi nancial activities and 
position.

The required supplementary information further enhances the fi nancial statements with budgetary 
comparisons and pension trend data. The budgetary comparisons provide three separate types of 
information: the original budget, the fi nal amended budget and the actual expenditures. Three 
statements are required to be presented in connection with the defi ned benefi t plans; schedule of 
employer contributions, schedule of changes in net pension liability and a schedule of employer’s 
share of net pension liability. For the OPEB trust, two schedules are required; schedule of employer 
contributions and a schedule of changes in net OPEB liability.

The other supplementary information refers to information about our fi duciary funds and is presented 
immediately following the required supplementary information on pensions. 

The following diagram shows how the various parts of the fi nancial section are arranged and relate to 
one another.

Financial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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ACPS implemented the requirements of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 
No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefi ts Other Than Pensions, for the 
reporting period ending June 30, 2018.

The objective of this Statement is to improve accounting and fi nancial reporting by state and local 
governments for postemployment benefi ts other than pensions (other postemployment benefi ts or 
OPEB). It also improves information provided by state and local governmental employers about fi nancial 
support for OPEB that is provided by other entities. This Statement requires the liability of employers 
and nonemployer contributing entities to employees for defi ned benefi t OPEB (net OPEB liability) to be 
measured as the portion of the present value of projected benefi t payments to be provided to current 
active and inactive employees that is attributed to those employees’ past periods of service (total OPEB 
liability), less the amount of the OPEB plan’s fi duciary net position. ACPS is required to report on the 
government-wide statement of net position a “Net OPEB Liability” if the obligation for OPEB benefi ts 
attributable to past service exceeds the resources held in the OPEB trust fund to pay benefi ts or a “Net 
OPEB Asset” if the resources held in the pension trust fund to pay benefi ts exceeds the obligation for 
pension benefi ts attributable to past service.

As a result of this Statement, ACPS recorded in the statement of net position, net OPEB liabilities totaling 
$48.1 million. Additionally, due to a change in accounting principle by this Statement, the unrestricted 
and total beginning net position defi cit for FY 2018 was increased by $50.9 million and restated to a 
defi cit of $229.7 million and $214.5 million, respectively.

For additional information, see Note 8. Other Post Employment Benefi ts (OPEB) and Note 13. 
Restatement of Net Position in the footnote disclosures to our basic fi nancial statements and Exhibits 
XII Schedule of Employer Contributions and XIII-4 Schedule of Net OPEB Liability in the Required 
Supplementary Information. 

Government-wide Financial Statements

The government-wide statements report information about ACPS as a whole, using accounting methods 
similar to those used in private-sector companies. The Statement of Net Position and the Statement 
of Activities provide information about the activities of the school division as a whole, presenting both 
an aggregate and a long-term view of the fi nancial position. These statements include all assets, 
liabilities and deferred infl ows and outfl ows of resources using the accrual basis of accounting. This 
basis of accounting includes all of the current year’s revenues and expenses regardless of when cash 
is received or paid. 

The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of ACPS’ (1) assets and deferred outfl ows 
of resources, (2) liabilities and deferred infl ows of resources, and (3) the diff erence between them 
reported as net position. Increases or decreases in net position over time may serve as a useful 
indicator of whether the fi nancial position of the school division is improving or deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities presents information on ACPS’ costs of providing services and the resources 
obtained to fi nance those services. This statement also highlights to what extent ACPS programs 
are able to cover their costs with user fees, operating grants and contributions, as opposed to being 
fi nanced with general revenues. In addition, the statement provides overall information as to whether 
the fi nancial position has improved or deteriorated during the fi scal year.

Financial-Management’s Discussion & AnalysisFinancial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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RESTATED

Total assets

Total liabilities

Total net position

Financial Analysis of ACPS as a Whole

In government-wide fi nancial statements, the activities can be divided into two categories: governmental 
activities and business-type activities. ACPS reports only governmental activities, since it has no 
business-type activities. The governmental activities of ACPS include the school division’s principal 
functions, such as instruction, administration, operation and maintenance of school buildings, pupil 
transportation, food services, and attendance and health. These governmental activities are primarily 
supported by the City of Alexandria (the City), State aid and intergovernmental revenues.

In response to GASB Statement No. 34, the Virginia General Assembly passed a law that established 
the local option of creating, for fi nancial reporting purposes, a tenancy in common between the city/
county and the local school board when the city/county issues bonds for fi nancing school construction. 
The sole purpose of the law is to allow cities and counties the ability to match the recording of school 
assets and related liabilities. As a result, certain school assets fi nanced with the City’s general obligation 
bonds are recorded as part of the primary government rather than as part of ACPS. 

According to the law, the tenancy in common ends when the associated obligation is repaid; therefore, 
the assets will revert to the School Board when the bonds are repaid. Capital debt fi nancing activities 
are not reported in the ACPS fi nancial statements, but rather in the City’s fi nancial statements.

Net position. The table below, provides a summary of ACPS’ net position as of June 30, 2018 compared 
to June 30, 2017. 
 

Financial-Management’s Discussion & AnalysisFinancial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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 Current Assets increased by $2.3 million or 2.7 percent from fi scal year 2017. The increase 
was primarily due to increases in equity in pooled cash balances which were partially off set by 
decreases in due from other governments.

 Capital Assets, net of depreciation increased $0.8 million, or 6.6 percent, from the prior year due 
to the purchase of 10 new buses. 

 Deferred Outfl ows of Resources decreased $10.6 million, or 18.1 percent, primarily due to 
decreases in retirement plan diff erences in expected vs actual investment earnings and employer 
contributions and proportionate share of $21.0 million. These decreases were partially off set by 
increases in retirement plan deferrals of employer contributions after the measurement date of 
$3.0 million, and changes in assumptions of $6.7 million and changes in assumptions for OPEB 
trust of $0.9 million. 

 Current Liabilities increased $15.1 million, or 39.0 percent, primarily due to increased payables 
outstanding for capital projects.

 Net Pension Liabilities decreased $29.9 million, or 11.5 percent during the fi scal year. This 
decrease was primarily due to increases in retirement plan deferred infl ows of $17.1 million and 
decreases in retirement plan deferred outfl ows of $9.8 million.

 Deferred Infl ows of Resources increased $19.7 million in FY 2018. Of this increase, $7.4 million 
is due to retirement plan diff erences between expected and actual experiences, $8.9 million due 
to diff erences between projected and actual pension investment earnings and $3.9 million related 
to the OPEB Trust. 

Financial-Management’s Discussion & AnalysisFinancial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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 (restated)

Changes in net position. The following table presents the changes in net position from fi scal year 
2017 to 2018:

• Net Position decreased $8.2 million, or 3.8 percent, to a defi cit of $222.7 million in fi scal year 2018 
from a defi cit of $214.5 million (restated) in fi scal year 2017. Total revenues decreased $14.6 
million of 5.0 percent from fi scal year 2017, while expenses decreased $2.2 million or 0.8 percent.

• The City appropriation decreased $18.5 million to $206.9 million compared to $225.3 million from 
2017. This decrease is the result of adjustments from timing diff erences made to revenue in the 
Capital Projects Fund by the City, which resulted in revenue surplus of $21.3 million in 2017 and 
a revenue defi cit of $7.2 million in 2018. The City’s appropriation to the General Fund was $214.1 
million in 2018, compared to $204.0 million in 2017, an increase of 4.9 percent.

•  Increases in state aid were primarily due to higher sales taxes revenues received by the state, 
Medicaid revenue received and state allocations of lottery revenues.

Financial-Management’s Discussion & AnalysisFinancial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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• The City appropriation and general state aid accounted for 91 cents of every dollar of ACPS’ revenue 
received. The remaining 9 cents of every dollar of revenue is funded with federal and state aid for 
specifi c programs, charges for services, and miscellaneous revenues.

• The majority of ACPS’s expenditures are directly related to the provision of services to students, 
including classroom instruction, attendance and health, transportation and school nutrition. These 
services account for 83 cents of every dollar spent. The remainder supports administrative costs (7 
cents per dollar), operations and maintenance (10 cents per dollar).

• Total expenses for governmental activities in 2018 were relatively fl at compared to 2017. Total 
expenses decreased $2.2 million in FY 2018, compared to last year. One of the primary factors 
contributing to the decrease were lower net pension costs (pension expense less employer 
contributions).  

• General Instructional expenditures included approximately, 23 additional full-time equivalent 
(FTEs) positions added during FY 2018. The growth in general instructional expenditures refl ects 
the continued alignment of our operating budget to dedicate more resources towards classroom 
instruction and signifi cant enrollment increases. 

Fund Financial Statements

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specifi c activities or objectives. ACPS, like other state and local governments, uses fund 
accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with fi nance-related requirements. All ACPS funds 
are reported in the governmental funds.

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental 
activities in the government-wide fi nancial statements. However, unlike the government-wide fi nancial 
statements, governmental fund fi nancial statements focus on near-term infl ows and outfl ows of 
spendable resources, as well as balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fi scal 
year for spending in future years. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-
term fi nancing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide fi nancial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information for governmental funds with similar information 
presented for governmental activities in the governmental-wide fi nancial statements. By doing so, readers 
may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term fi nancing decisions. Both 
the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, 
and changes in fund balance provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental 
funds and governmental activities.

ACPS’ fund fi nancial statements provide detail information about the most signifi cant funds, and not 
ACPS as a whole. Governmental fund reporting focuses on showing how money fl ows in and out 
of funds and the balances left at year-end that are available for spending. They are reported using 
modifi ed accrual accounting, which measures cash and all other fi nancial assets that can be readily 
converted to cash. The governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term view of ACPS’ 
operations and the services it provides.

Financial-Management’s Discussion & AnalysisFinancial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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The Board adopts an annual appropriated budget for all governmental funds. For fi scal year 2018, 
all governmental funds have been designated as major funds. The budgetary comparison schedules 
for the General, Grants and Special Projects and School Nutrition funds have been provided in the 
Required Supplementary Information section of this report (Exhibits IX, X and XI respectively). 

At the end of FY 2018, ACPS’ governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $26.1 million, a 
decrease of $12.0 million in comparison with fi scal year 2017. Of this combined total fund balance, $1.5 
million or 5.7 percent constitutes non-spendable fund balance which refl ects inventories and prepaid 
items that are in a non-liquid form and cannot be spent, $0.2 million or 0.8 percent constitutes restricted 
fund balance which is externally restricted for grant programs, $5.2 million or 19.9 percent constitutes 
committed fund balance which is designated by the School Board for use in fi scal year 2019, $15.0 
million or 57.5 percent constitutes assigned fund balance which is designated for capital projects, 
school nutrition programs and outstanding encumbrances at year-end, and $4.2 million or 16.1 percent 
constitutes unassigned fund balance which is not constrained at all and can be used for any purpose 
by the Board. See Note 12 for additional information on our fund balance designations.

The following schedules present a summary of the General Fund by type of revenue and expenditures 
by function for the period ended June 30, 2018 as compared to June 30, 2017. They also depict the 
amount and percentage increases and decreases in relation to prior year amounts reported.

General Fund Revenues

The General Fund is the general operating fund of the Board that is used to account for all fi nancial 
resources, except those required to be accounted in another fund.  

Revenues for the General Fund totaled $258.8 million for 2018, which was $13.4 million or 5.2 percent 
higher than revenues received in 2017. The majority of annual funding received by ACPS is paid by 
the City, which provided an appropriation of $214.1 million in FY 2018. This represented an increase of 
$10.0 million or 4.9 percent over the FY 2017 appropriation. The second largest revenue source is from 
the Commonwealth of Virginia. Income from the Commonwealth increased $3.3 million, or 8.3 percent, 
to a total of $43.7 million in FY 2018, primarily due to additional state sales taxes and Medicaid.

Tuition and fees decreased 9.7 percent due to lower facilities usage fees collected from 3rd parties.

Other local revenue sources increased by 8.7 percent, primarily due to increases in federal grant 
indirect cost recoveries and rebates received from vendors.

Financial-Management’s Discussion & AnalysisFinancial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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General Fund Expenditures & Other Financing Sources and Uses

General Fund expenditures totaled $257.1 million for fi scal year 2018, which was an increase of $4.3 
million, or 1.7 percent from fi scal year 2017. The following illustration presents the amounts of General 
Fund expenditures by function and the increase or decrease from the previous year for each function, 
as well as, the comparison of other fi nancing sources and uses with the prior year. 

For fi scal year 2018, the School Board awarded a full step increase to all eligible employees and a 2% 
bonus was awarded to those employees at the top of the salary scale. Also, approximately 23 FTEs 
were added to our staffi  ng in FY 2018. These increases in personnel cost, including related increased 
employee benefi ts costs, are refl ected in all ACPS functions. Other signifi cant changes in operating 
fund expenditures are summarized below:

• General instruction costs increased by $7.5 million, or 4.0 percent, due to instruction-based positions 
added to staffi  ng, driven by continued student enrollment growth and the growing population of 
students with additional needs. 

• Plant operations expenditures decreased by $1.9 million, or 8.2 percent, due to one-time construction 
costs incurred with the new West End Elementary School in 2017 and none in 2018.

Transfers out in Other Financing Uses of $1.4 million from the General Fund refl ect ACPS’ contribution 
to the Virginia Preschool Initiative program in the Grants and Special Projects Fund.
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Fund Balances

The FY 2018 General Fund Original Budget, as adopted by the School Board, refl ected the usage 
of $5.0 million of fund balance committed to off set the amount of budgeted expenditures and funds 
transfers that exceeded budgeted revenues. This budgeted usage of fund balance is consistent in the 
General Fund budget adoption process of prior years. At the close of FY 2018, general fund balance 
was increased by $0.2 million. 

The Grant and Special Projects Fund is used to account for federal, state, and local grants restricted 
for specifi ed school purposes by the grantor. During FY 2018, total grant funding was relatively fl at from 
FY 2017, increased slightly by 1.8 percent. At June 30, 2018, the Grants and Special Projects Fund 
balance consisted of $0.2 million restricted for the purposes specifi ed in the grant awards.

The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for the acquisition, renovation or construction of ACPS 
facilities. Payments for all capital projects initiated by ACPS, in accordance with the School Board 
and City Council approved ACPS capital plan, are processed and disbursed by the City. The revenue 
recognized in this fund for FY 2018 was negative $7.2 million and resulted from the reversal of timing 
issues from the prior year.  The fund balance of the Capital Projects Fund at June 30, 2018 was $8.2 
million. It represents funding dedicated to ACPS by the City for approved capital projects in advance of 
incurred capital expenditures.

As previously stated, certain school assets and projects may be fi nanced with the City’s general 
obligation bonds and as a result, disbursements for those activities are recorded as part of the primary 
government.  Any capital debt fi nancing activities are reported in the City’s fi nancial statements, and 
are not refl ected in ACPS fi nancial statements. According to law, the tenancy in common ends when the 
associated debt obligation is repaid, at which time the related assets revert to the School Board.  No 
capital assets reverted to ACPS in 2018, due to the end of the tenancy in common.

The School Nutrition Fund is used to account for the preparation and serving of student meals. At the 
end of 2018, the School Nutrition fund balance refl ected $0.3 million in nonspendable fund balance for 
inventory and prepaid items and $5.1 million in assigned fund balance for school nutrition operations. 
This fund is self-supported by the revenues earned and does not rely upon the General Fund to support 
its operations. 

Capital Assets

At June 30, 2018, ACPS had $12.8 million invested in land, buildings and building improvements, and 
furniture and equipment for governmental activities, net of accumulated depreciation (see Note 5 for 
additional information on capital assets). This amount represents an increase of $0.8 million from last 
year due to purchases of school buses and modular classrooms. 
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Other major capital project expenditures during fi scal year 2018 that are refl ected in the City’s capital 
fund are,
• New School Construction- During FY 2018, approximately $13.7 million was spent on the 

conversion of the six story offi  ce building, purchased in 2017, into the newly named Ferdinand T. 
Day Elementary School and $20.8 million was spent in 2018 fi nalizing the construction of the new 
Patrick Henry K-8 School. Both of these schools are on-target to open their doors at the start of the 
2018-2019 school year.

• Modular classrooms- Approximately $1.3 million was spent for modular classrooms at James Polk 
Elementary School and T.C. Williams High School.

• School Buses- Approximately $1.0 million was spent to acquire 10 school buses to replace aging 
equipment and provide transportation for increased student enrollment. 

• Food Services- Approximately $0.4 million was spent for appliances and renovations for school 
cafeterias across the division.

Under legislation passed by the General Assembly of Virginia, projects under construction and any 
school assets funded by the City’s long-term debt are carried in the City’s fi nancial records until the 
associated debt has been paid in full. When the bonded debt is retired, the assets and any remaining 
asset value are transferred to ACPS. The table below refl ects only those assets that have been 
transferred to ACPS.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

The annual budget is prepared on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States for the General Fund. All annual unencumbered appropriations lapse at fi scal year-
end.

The budget is prepared by fund, organizational unit and account. During the fi scal year, upon receiving 
the fi nal allocations from the State, transfers and adjustments are made to the budget allocations. 
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The following schedule presents a summary of the General Fund revenues and expenditures by type 
compared to the original and fi nal budgets for the period ended June 30, 2018. Revenues in the original 
and fi nal budgets totaled $256.9 million. Expenditures in the original budget were $260.3 million, while 
the fi nal budget totaled $261.2 million. The fi nal expenditure budget refl ects zero-sum changes made 
throughout the year, plus the increase associated with the expenditures of funds encumbered at the 
end of FY 2017.
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 Actual General Fund revenues exceeded the fi nal budget by $1.9 million or 0.7 percent, primarily 
due to increased sales tax collections and Medicaid program revenues.

 Expenditures were $4.1 million or 1.6 percent below the fi nal budget. 
• Actual combined salaries and benefi ts expenditures totaled $225.5 million, which is $2.0 

million or 0.8 percent less than the fi nal budget. This savings is associated with instructional 
and support staff  position vacancies and salaries lapse.

• Actual purchased services were less than the fi nal budget by $0.9 million or 7.0 percent, 
due to lower than planned expenditures for professional and contractual services, and 
maintenance and cleaning services and contracts.

• Actual materials and supplies were less than the fi nal budget by $1.0 million or 11.4 percent 
due to lower than planned expenditures for instructional supplies and textbooks.

The budget variances above do not include the value of any outstanding encumbrances that remained 
open at year end. There were outstanding encumbrances for the general fund totaling $1.8 million, that 
were carried over into FY 2019.

Fiduciary Funds

ACPS is the trustee for its employees’ pension plan and other post-employment benefi t trust. It is also 
responsible for an agency fund which covers the student activity fund (SAF) program. All of the fi duciary 
activities are reported in a separate statement of fi duciary net position and a statement of changes in 
fi duciary net position. These activities are excluded from ACPS’ government-wide statements because 
ACPS cannot use these assets to fi nance its operations. The fi nancial statements for the plan are 
prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. The student activity monies are also accounted for in this 
fund type as an agency fund. The School Activity Account Fund is presented in Exhibits VII and XVI of 
this report.

The basic Fiduciary Fund fi nancial statements are presented in Exhibits VII and VIII, and the combining 
statements for the Fiduciary Fund are presented in Exhibits XIV and XV of this report.

Economic Factors and 2018 Fiscal Year Budget

The School division considers many factors when developing the next year’s budget. Primary factors 
include projected student enrollment growth compared to the student teacher ratios in each classroom 
and the number of new staff  needed to meet those program goals, employee benefi t increases, facilities 
costs and other factors. ACPS continues to experience signifi cant increases in student enrollment. 

For FY 2018, enrollment increased to 15,540 students. From FY 2015 through FY 2018, the elementary 
school enrollment has increased approx. 7.1 percent, from 7,934 to 8,501 students. Middle school has 
increased 10.3 percent, from 2,759 to 3,043 students and high school has increased 13.7 percent, 
from 3,474 to 3,949 students; for a total growth of 1,316 students.  

Projected enrollment for the 2018-19 school year includes a 2.5 percent growth (about 388 students) 
compared to the 2017-2018 school year and over the next ten years through FY 2028, enrollment 
growth is projected to increase to approximately 18,383 students, or a total growth of 15.4 percent 
compared to our current level. ACPS has maintained smaller class sizes for an enhanced learning 
environment for students. Class size caps — 22 for kindergarten, 24 for grades 1 and 2, and 26 for 
grades 3 to 5 in elementary schools, remain competitive with other school divisions in Northern Virginia. 
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The signifi cant capacity needs that face ACPS require additional resources of space and staff  to serve 
the needs of students. Construction on a new Patrick Henry K-8 school, to replace the current K-5 
elementary school, is substantially completed and scheduled to open with the start of 2018-19 school 
year. The six-story offi  ce building and garage purchased in 2017 to convert into a new elementary 
school, named Ferdinand T. Day Elementary School, is on schedule to open in FY 2019. Division-
wide capacity solutions are currently under consideration, with particular focus on secondary school 
capacity. Achieving the capacity to serve our growing population of students is a challenge that provides 
signifi cant spending pressure on our capital projects budget.

ACPS’ growing student population continues to refl ect very diverse demographics and special needs. 
Our students represent 118 diff erent countries and speak 120 native languages. The enrollment in 
the English Learner (EL) program represents 30.6 percent of total student population for FY 2018 
and is one of the highest percentage of students receiving EL services in the Northern Virginia school 
divisions. The proportion of our students participating in the free and reduced-price meal program in 
FY 2010 was 54.5 percent and this has increased in FY 2018 to 63.2 percent, which is the highest 
percentage of the Northern Virginia school divisions. This is signifi cantly diff erent than the general 
Alexandria City population, which has only 9.0 percent of the population living under the poverty line 
based on the U.S. Census Bureau, 2015 data. 

 All of these factors contribute towards increased costs to educate our students and provide signifi cant 
challenges towards balancing our budget.

Despite these very diffi  cult economic times and the fi nancial challenges associated with continued 
increased student enrollment and more diverse student needs to address, ACPS will continue to put 
its limited resources where it matters the most: To improve student learning for each and every child 
in the school division.  Through resource realignment, ACPS will maintain small class sizes, dedicate 
more money to instruction, add more teachers for core classes, physical education, ELL and special 
education programs, and continue to fund school exemplary programs and teacher professional 
development.

In May 2018, the School Board adopted a balanced budget for fi scal year 2019 that refl ected General 
Fund resources of $273.8 million, which includes the approved use of $5.0 million of available 
unrestricted fund balance.  

The total expenditures of $273.8 million in the FY 2019 fi nal General Fund budget is an increase of 5.2 
percent compared to the FY 2018 fi nal budget. The appropriation to ACPS from the City of Alexandria 
is $223.8 million an increase of 4.6 percent compared to the FY 2018 fi nal budget. Total positions 
funded through combined funds show a net increase of 67.11 FTE or 2.7 percent, for a total of 2,585.04 
FTEs. 

Contacting the Alexandria City Public Schools Financial Management

This fi nancial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, and creditors with a general 
overview of ACPS’ fi nances and to show ACPS’ accountability for the money it receives. If you have 
any questions about this report or need additional fi nancial information, please contact the Financial 
Services Department at Alexandria City Public Schools, 1340 Braddock Place, Alexandria, Virginia 
22314, telephone 703-619-8040 or visit the school’s web site at https://va01918616.schoolwires.net/
Page/344.
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Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2018
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Total governmental activities

Total general revenues

Net position-July 1, 2017 - (restated)

Net position-June 30, 2018

Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
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Total assets

Total liabilities

Total fund balances 

Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds

June 30, 2018

Total liabilities and fund balances
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Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to
the Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2018
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Total revenues 

Total expenditures

     Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances

Fund Balances-July 1, 2017

Fund Balances-June 30, 2018

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
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Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, 
and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 

 to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
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Total assets, current

Total liabilities, current

Total net position

Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds

June 30, 2018
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Total operating revenues 

Total operating expenses

Change in net position

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Net Position
Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
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Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
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Total investments

Total assets

Total liabilities

Total net position held in trust

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2018
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Total deductions

Net position - July 1, 2017

Net position - June 30, 2018

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018

Financial Section-Basic Financial Statements



Page 53 

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia

NOTE 1. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies

a) Reporting Entity 

The School Board of the City of Alexandria is a separately-elected governing body operating under the 
Constitution of Virginia and the Code of Virginia. Since FY 1995, the members of the School Board 
(Board) have been elected by the citizens of the City of Alexandria (City) to serve three-year terms. 
The Board determines educational policies and appoints a superintendent of schools to implement the 
Board’s policies. The superintendent is also responsible to the Board for administering the operations 
of the school system, supervising personnel and advising the Board on all educational matters for the 
welfare of the students. The mission of Alexandria City Public Schools (ACPS) is to deliver high-quality 
instruction to a highly-diverse student population so that all students achieve at their highest potential.

The City Council (Council) annually approves the Board’s total annual General Fund budget appropriation, 
levies taxes, and issues debt for school projects. The legal liability for the general obligation debt 
issued for school capital assets remains with the City. Funds also are received from state and federal 
sources for general school aid and specifi c grant purposes, respectively. The Council is prohibited from 
exercising any control over specifi c appropriations within the operating budget of the Board. ACPS is 
considered to be a discretely presented component unit of the City because ACPS is fi scally dependent 
on the City and its operations are funded primarily by payments from the City’s general fund. The Board 
has the discretionary authority to expend the amount appropriated to it by the Council.

Basis of Financial Statement Presentation and Fund Accounting

The fi nancial statements of ACPS have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to local governmental units. 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for 
establishing local governmental accounting and fi nancial reporting principles. The reporting model 
was developed to make annual reports easier to understand and more useful to the people who use 
governmental fi nancial information to make decisions and includes:

  Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) The purpose of the MD&A is to provide 
an analysis of ACPS’ overall fi nancial strength and operating results. It also includes a description 
of currently known facts, decisions, or conditions expected to have a signifi cant eff ect on the future 
fi nancial position of the school division.

       Government-wide fi nancial statements These include fi nancial statements prepared using full 
accrual accounting for all of the government’s activities. Under the accrual basis, all revenues and 
costs of providing services are reported, not just those received or paid in the current year or soon 
thereafter. This approach includes not just current assets and liabilities, but also capital assets and 
long-term liabilities.

  Fund fi nancial statements GASB Statement No. 34 requires governmental entities to present 
fi nancial statements with information about funds with a focus on ACPS major funds. 

  Budgetary comparison schedule The budgetary comparison schedule requires the presentation 
of both the original budget and fi nal budget and comparison to the actual results. 

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
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b)  Basis of Presentation

Government-wide Financial Statements The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of 
Activities report information on all the activities of ACPS, except for fi duciary funds. The government-
wide statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual 
basis of accounting.  The fund statements are presented on a current fi nancial resources measurement 
focus and use the modifi ed accrual basis of accounting, except the proprietary and fi duciary fund 
statements which use the accrual basis. Governmental fund fi nancial statements, therefore, includes 
a reconciliation with brief explanations to better identify the relationship between the government-wide 
statements and the statements for governmental funds.

The government-wide Statement of Activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and 
program revenues for each function or program within ACPS’ governmental activities. Direct expenses 
are those that are specifi cally associated with a service, program, or department and therefore are 
clearly identifi able to a particular function. Revenues which are not classifi ed as program revenues are 
presented as general revenues of ACPS. The comparison of direct expenses with program revenues 
identifi es the extent to which the governmental function is self-fi nancing or draws from the general 
revenues of ACPS.

Program revenues are fi nanced by those who use the services of the program or from grants and 
contributions from parties outside ACPS which are restricted for use in the specifi c program. These 
revenues reduce the cost of the functions to be fi nanced from ACPS’ general revenues. Charges for 
services include general and adult education tuition, cafeteria sales, lease of facilities and summer 
school tuition. Program-specifi c operating grants and contribution revenues include the National School 
Lunch program and other federal grants and reimbursements.

Expenses are grouped in four broad categories: instructional, support services, operation of non- 
instructional services and capital improvement services. Some functions classifi ed under support 
services include expenses that are, in essence, indirect expenses of instructional functions. However, 
ACPS does not allocate those indirect expenses to the instructional programs. Depreciation expense 
is specifi cally identifi ed by function and is included in the direct expense of each applicable function.

The government-wide fi nancial statements report information on all the activities of ACPS. The eff ect of 
interfund activity has been removed from these statements.

Fund Financial Statements Fund fi nancial statements report detailed information about ACPS. 
Separate fi nancial statements are provided for governmental, proprietary and fi duciary funds, even 
though fi duciary funds are excluded from the government-wide fi nancial statements. Major individual 
governmental funds are reported as separate columns in the fund fi nancial statements, while the 
internal service fund is presented in separate columns as well. The focus of governmental fund fi nancial 
statements is on reporting major funds rather than on reporting funds by type. Each major fund is 
presented in a separate column. All governmental funds have been designated as major funds for 
2018. Fiduciary funds include the pension and other employee benefi t trust funds and agency funds.

The accounting and fi nancial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement 
focus. All governmental fund types are accounted for using a fl ow of current resources measurement 
focus. The fi nancial statements for governmental funds consist of a balance sheet, which generally 
includes only current assets, current liabilities, and deferred outfl ows and infl ows, and a statement of 
revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances, which reports on the sources (i.e., revenues 
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and other fi nancing sources) and uses (i.e., expenditures and other fi nancing uses) of current fi nancial 
resources. The proprietary fund, distinguishes operating revenues and expenses from non-operating 
items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services. Revenues and 
expenditures not meeting these criteria are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. 

ACPS uses funds to maintain its fi nancial records during the fi scal year. Fund accounting is designed 
to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid management by segregating transactions related to certain 
ACPS functions and activities. A fund is defi ned as a fi scal and accounting entity with a self-balancing 
set of accounts.

Governmental funds Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions of 
the Board are fi nanced. The acquisition, use and balances of ACPS’ expendable fi nancial resources 
and the related liabilities are accounted for through governmental funds. ACPS’ main operating fund is 
reported as a major fund. Major funds are determined based on the ratio of each fund compared to the 
fund category total or by management discussion. The following are ACPS’ major governmental funds:

• General Fund – the General Fund is the primary operating fund of ACPS. It is used to account for 
all fi nancial resources, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

• Capital Projects Fund – the Capital Projects Fund is used to account for fi nancial resources used 
in the acquisition, construction or renovation of major facilities of ACPS.

• Grants and Special Projects Fund- is a special revenue fund used to account for Federal, State, 
non-profi t, and private industry grants that are restricted to expenditures for specifi c purposes.

• School Nutrition Fund is a special revenue fund which accounts for the activities of the cafeterias 
operating in each school. Revenues include federal and state funds, donated commodities, charges 
for services, and other sales.

Proprietary funds – Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating 
items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s ongoing operations.

• Health Benefi ts Fund- is an internal service fund. This fund was created to better manage health 
care expenses within ACPS. The primary source of revenue for this fund are employer contributions 
paid by other funds and employee contributions deducted from employee pay on a semi-monthly 
basis.

Fiduciary funds – Fiduciary Funds are used to account for resources held for the benefi t of parties 
outside the government. Fiduciary funds are not refl ected in the government-wide fi nancial statements, 
because the resources of those funds are not available to support the Board’s programs. The following 
are ACPS fi duciary funds.

• Pension and Other Employee Benefi t Trust Funds – Pension and other employee benefi t trust 
funds are fi duciary funds used to account for assets held in a trustee capacity for the members 
and benefi ciaries of the Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan and for the School Other Post-
employment Benefi ts (OPEB) Trust Fund.

• Agency Fund – the Student Activity Fund accounts for student activity monies held by the school 
principals at each school.
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c)  Budgetary Comparison Schedule

ACPS is required to present certain required supplementary information (RSI) within its basic fi nancial 
statements. Demonstrating compliance with the legally-adopted budget is an important component of 
a government’s accountability to the public. Many citizens participate in the process of establishing the 
school’s annual operating budget and have a keen interest in following the actual fi nancial progress 
over the course of the year. The budgetary information presents the original budget, the fi nal budget 
and actual results.

d)  Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting determines when transactions are recorded in the fi nancial records and reported in 
the fi nancial statements. Government-wide fi nancial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting. Governmental funds use the modifi ed accrual basis of accounting. Proprietary and fi duciary 
funds are reported using the accrual basis of accounting.

Under the modifi ed accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when susceptible to accrual 
(i.e., when they are both “measurable and available”). “Measurable” means the amount of the transaction 
can be determined and “available” means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter 
to pay liabilities of the current period. Federal and State reimbursement-type grants revenues are 
considered to be measurable and available as revenue when reimbursements for related eligible 
expenditures are collected within a year of the date the expenditure was incurred. ACPS considers 
all non-reimbursement type revenues available if they are collectible within 60 days after year-end. 
Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for certain compensated 
absences and workers’ compensation. Liabilities for compensated absences and workers compensation 
are recognized as fund liabilities and expenditures when amounts are due and payable. 

State aid is recorded at the time of receipt or earlier, if the “susceptible to accrual” criteria are met. 
Expenditure-driven grants are recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures have been 
incurred and all other eligibility requirements have been met.

Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when earned. Deferred infl ows of 
resources arise when assets are recognized before revenue recognition criteria have been satisfi ed. 
Grant proceeds received before the eligibility requirements are met are recorded as deferred infl ows 
of resources. Revenue from the United States Department of Agriculture in the form of commodities is 
considered earned when the commodities are used. The value of unused commodities is reported as 
unearned revenue.

The pension trust fund is accounted for on a fl ow of economic resources measurement focus. With 
this focus, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are 
incurred. Member and employer contributions are recognized in the period when due and ACPS has 
made a formal commitment to fund employees’ contributions. Benefi ts and refunds are recognized when 
due and payable in accordance with the terms of the plan. Agency funds are custodial in nature and do 
not involve measurement of results of operations. 

e)  Encumbrance Accounting

Encumbrance accounting, which is the recording of purchase orders, contracts and other monetary 
commitments in order to reserve applicable portions of an appropriation, is used as an extension of 
formal budgetary control. 
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Encumbrances outstanding at year-end are classifi ed as assigned in the General Fund or as assigned 
or restricted fund balance in the non-General Funds. Annual appropriations that are not spent or 
encumbered, lapse at year-end.

f)  Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Pronouncements 

During the fi scal year ended June 30, 2018, ACPS adopted the following new accounting standard 
issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB):

Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefi ts Other Than 
Pensions 

The objective of this Statement is to improve accounting and fi nancial reporting by state and local 
governments for postemployment benefi ts other than pensions (other postemployment benefi ts or 
OPEB). It also improves information provided by state and local governmental employers about fi nancial 
support for OPEB that is provided by other entities. This Statement results from a comprehensive 
review of the eff ectiveness of existing standards of accounting and fi nancial reporting for all 
postemployment benefi ts (pensions and OPEB) with regard to providing decision-useful information, 
supporting assessments of accountability and inter-period equity, and creating additional transparency. 
This Statement replaces the requirements of Statements No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting 
by Employers for Postemployment Benefi ts Other Than Pensions, as amended, and No. 57, OPEB 
Measurements by Agent Employers and Agent Multiple-Employer Plans, for OPEB. Statement No. 75, 
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefi t Plans Other Than Pension Plans, establishes new 
accounting and fi nancial reporting requirements for OPEB plans. Additional disclosures are included 
in Note 8 and the Required Supplementary Information following the notes to the fi nancial statements. 

g)  Cash and Investments

ACPS cash balances in all governmental and proprietary funds are held by the City and are invested to 
the extent available by the City Treasurer. These balances are invested in repurchase agreements and 
obligations of the federal government and are recorded at fair value. The fair value of investments is 
based on quoted market prices. These balances are refl ected as Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments 
in the fi nancial statements. The portions of ACPS cash balances attributable to the Grants and Special 
Projects, School Nutrition and Health Benefi ts funds are refl ected in those funds as Due from/to other 
funds, while the General fund refl ects an off setting amount as Due to/from other funds. See section i) 
Interfund Transactions for additional information. The pension and OPEB investments refl ected in the 
Fiduciary Funds are discussed in Note 2. The cash in the Agency Fund represents the student activity 
fund cash balances in the separate bank accounts maintained by the individual schools. Since these 
funds are accounted for on the cash basis of accounting, accrued interest on certifi cate of deposits with 
a term of maturity longer than 1 year is not refl ected in the cash balance.

h)  Due from Other Governments

The amount due from other governments consists primarily of receivables from state entitlements and 
federal and state reimbursement of grants expenditures. 
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i)  Interfund Transactions and Other Financing 

Cash for governmental and proprietary funds is held, as pooled cash, by the City, and refl ected in the 
General Fund’s Due from the City balance. Governmental and proprietary funds refl ect their equity 
interest in the pooled cash held by the City as due to or due from the General Fund. These amounts are 
eliminated in the government-wide Statement of Net Position. Exchange transactions between funds 
are reported as revenues in the seller funds and as expenditures/expenses in the purchaser funds. 
Flow of cash or goods from one fund to another without a requirement for repayment are reported as 
interfund transfers. Interfund transfers are reported as other fi nancing sources/uses in governmental 
funds and after nonoperating revenues/expenses in the proprietary funds.

The composition of interfund receivables and payables balances as of June 30, 2018 were as follows:

Interfund transfers and other fi nancing amounts for the year ended June 30, 2018 were as follows:

Transfers were made to move resources from the General Fund to Grants and Special Projects Funds 
for costs incurred in the Virginia Pre-school Initiative program.

j)  Inventories and Prepaid Items

Inventories consist of various consumable supplies and commodities maintained by the Food and 
Nutrition Services offi  ce. The School Nutrition Fund values and carries its inventory on a cost basis 
using the weighted-average method. The purchase method of accounting is used in the governmental 
funds. Reported inventories in the governmental funds are equally off set by a nonspendable fund 
balance designation which indicates the inventories do not constitute “available spendable resources”. 
Food commodities received from the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) are stated at 
fair market value and the amount consumed is recognized as revenue. The amount of unused food 
commodities is reported as inventory and unearned revenue. 
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Prepaid Items refl ect certain payments to vendors for costs applicable to future accounting periods. 
These transactions are recorded as prepaid items in both the government-wide and governmental 
fund fi nancial statements using the consumption method. Prepaid items in the governmental funds are 
classifi ed as nonspendable in the fund balance. Refer to Note 3 for additional information on prepaid 
items.

k)  Capital Assets

Capital outlays are recorded as expenditures in the governmental funds and as assets in the government-
wide fi nancial statements to the extent the ACPS capitalization threshold is met. 

Capital assets are defi ned by ACPS as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000. 
Major additions, including those that signifi cantly prolong a capital asset’s economic life or expand its 
usefulness, are capitalized. Normal repairs that merely maintain the asset in its present condition are 
recorded as expenses and are not capitalized. Depreciation expense for capital assets is identifi ed with 
a specifi c function and is included as a direct expense on the statement of activities.

All capital assets are capitalized at historical cost (or estimated historical cost) and updated for additions 
and retirements during the year. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of 
donation. ACPS does not own any infrastructure. Upon sale or retirement of equipment, the cost and 
related accumulated depreciation, if applicable, are eliminated from their respective accounts and any 
resulting gain or loss is included in the results of operations.

All reported capital assets other than land and construction in progress are depreciated. Building 
improvements are depreciated over the shorter of ten years or the remaining useful lives of the related 
capital assets. 

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:

l)  Deferred Outfl ows

A deferred outfl ow of resources represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period, 
and so, will not be recognized as an outfl ow of the resources (expenditure) until the future period.  At 
June 30, 2018, ACPS had $47.8 million of deferred outfl ows of resources, approximately $44.4 million 
pertain to retirement plans and $3.4 million for OPEB plan. These deferrals were caused by employer 
retirement contributions made after the plan measurement dates, diff erences between expected/actual 
investment earnings, actual employer contributions, changes in assumptions, and proportionate share 
and expected/actual experience.
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m)  Deferred Infl ows

A deferred infl ow of resources represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period 
and will not be recognized as an infl ow of resources (revenue) until that time. For government-mandated 
and voluntary non-exchange transactions, a deferred infl ow is reported when resources are received 
before time requirements are met. At June 30, 2018, ACPS had $31.8 million of deferred infl ows of 
resources, approximately $27.9 million pertain to retirement plans and $3.9 million for OPEB plan. 
These deferrals were caused by diff erences between projected and actual proportionate share of 
contributions, projected and actual investment earnings, changes in assumptions, and expected versus 
actual experience.

n)  Compensated Absences

ACPS accrues compensated absences when vested. All annual and vested sick leave benefi ts are 
accrued as a liability when earned by the employees and are reported in the government-wide fi nancial 
statements. The only portion of the accrued compensated absences liability that is reported in the 
governmental funds is that which pertains to those employees who retired or resigned on or before June 
30, 2018, and have not received payment for their accrued compensatory leave as of June 30, 2018. 

Annual Leave: Eligible ACPS employees are granted annual leave in varying amounts, based on length 
of service. Upon retirement, resignation, termination, or death, employees may be compensated for 
accrued leave at their current per diem rate of pay up to a maximum of 45 annual leave days. Annual 
leave is accrued as it is earned or advanced.

Sick Leave: Sick leave eligibility and accumulation is specifi ed in the employee handbooks. Upon 
retirement, resignation, or death, employees receive a lump-sum payment based on daily rates approved 
by the Board. ACPS does not compensate terminating employees for unused sick leave unless they 
have completed three consecutive years of employment. Sick leave is accrued for the amount earned 
and vested.

Personal Leave: Full-time employees are granted four personal leave days per year and may accumulate 
up to eight days per year. Unused personal leave accumulated in excess of the eight days may be 
carried forward at the end of the year as accumulated sick leave or annual leave, depending upon the 
employee group. Personal leave is credited to each employee at the beginning of each contract year.

o)  Net Position

Net position represent the diff erence between assets and deferred infl ows combined and liabilities and 
deferred outfl ows combined on the government-wide statements. In the government-wide fund fi nancial 
statements, ACPS’ net position fall into three categories: net investment in capital assets, restricted 
and unrestricted. The fi rst category represents the portion of net position related to capital assets, net 
of accumulated depreciation and any related debt or capital lease obligations. The restricted category 
represents the position with constraints placed upon their use. The constraints are either: (1) externally 
imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of other governments; or (2) imposed 
by law or through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

The unrestricted category represents the remaining amount of net position that may be used to meet 
ACPS’ ongoing programs. In the fi duciary fund fi nancial statements, ACPS’ net position is categorized 
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as held in trust for pension benefi ts, which represent the amount of assets accumulated for the payment 
of benefi ts to the benefi ciaries of the ACPS Supplemental Retirement Plan. When both restricted and 
unrestricted net position is available for an expense, ACPS applies restricted resources fi rst.

p)  Fund Balance 

Fund balance is categorized within one of the fi ve classifi cations listed below based primarily on the 
extent to which the School Board is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of resources 
in the governmental funds. ACPS classifi es governmental fund balances as follows: 

Nonspendable - includes fund balance amounts that cannot be spent either because it is not in spendable 
form or because of legal or contractual requirements. Criteria include items that are not expected to be 
converted into cash, for example inventories or prepaid items.

Spendable Fund Balance 
Restricted – includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specifi c purposes which are 
externally imposed by providers, such as creditors or amounts constrained due to constitutional 
provisions or enabling legislation. 

Committed – includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specifi c purposes that are internally 
imposed by the division through formal action by the School Board, the highest level of decision making 
authority. Committed balances are classifi ed as such as a result of the School Board taking formal 
action and adopting a resolution which can only be modifi ed or rescinded by a subsequent formal 
action.

Assigned – includes spendable fund balance amounts that are intended to be used for specifi c 
purposes that are neither considered restricted or committed. The Chief Financial Offi  cer and Director of 
Accounting are authorized by the School Board to assign Fund Balance amounts for specifi c purposes. 

Unassigned - includes residual positive fund balance within the General Fund which has not been 
classifi ed within the other above mentioned categories. Unassigned fund balance may also include 
negative balances for any governmental fund if expenditures exceed amounts restricted, committed, or 
assigned for those specifi c purposes. 

ACPS uses restricted amounts to be spent fi rst when both restricted and unrestricted fund balance 
is available unless there are legal documents/contracts that prohibit doing this, such as in grant 
agreements. Additionally, ACPS would fi rst use committed, then assigned, and lastly unassigned 
amounts of unrestricted fund balance when expenditures are made. 

The Board approved a resolution to delegate the authority to assign fund balance to the Chief Financial 
Offi  cer and Director of Accounting.

ACPS does not have a formal minimum fund balance policy, since the division is fi scally dependent 
upon the City and the City maintains an adequate fund balance.

For further details of the various fund balance classifi cations, refer to Note 12.
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q)  Use of Estimates

The preparation of the accompanying fi nancial statements required management to make estimates and 
assumptions about certain amounts included in the fi nancial statements. Actual results will invariably 
diff er from these estimates.

r)  Pension and Other Post-Employment Benefi ts Trust Funds

A trust fund is used to account for assets held in a trustee capacity. The pension trust fund is used to 
account for the Supplemental Retirement System of Alexandria City Public Schools, a single-employer 
defi ned benefi t pension plan. The Other Post-employment Benefi t Trust Fund accounts for accumulating 
and investing for post-employment health benefi t subsidies.

s) Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outfl ows of resources and deferred infl ows 
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fi duciary net position of 
the Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Teacher Retirement Plan and the Political Subdivision Retirement 
Plan and the additions to/deductions from the Plans’ net fi duciary position have been determined on 
the same basis as they were reported by VRS. For this purpose, benefi t payments (including refunds 
of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefi t terms. 
Investments are reported at fair value.

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outfl ows of resources and deferred infl ows 
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fi duciary net position of 
the Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan and the additions to/deductions from the Employees’ 
Supplemental Retirement Plan’s net fi duciary position have been determined on the same basis. For 
this purpose, benefi t payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due 
and payable in accordance with the benefi t terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

t) Other Post-Employment Benefi ts (OPEB) 

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outfl ows of resources and deferred infl ows 
of resources related to other post-employment benefi ts, and OPEB expense, information about the 
fi duciary net position of the Other Post-Employment Benefi t Trust Fund and the additions to/deductions 
from the OPEB net fi duciary position have been determined by on the same basis as they were reported 
by the VML/VACo Pooled OPEB Trust. For this purpose, benefi t payments are recognized when due 
and payable in accordance with benefi t terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

u) Accrued Personnel Services

At the discretion of ACPS, teachers’ payroll is expended over the 10 or 11 month school year contract. 
Consequently, accrued personnel services at June 30, 2018 include salaries earned prior to year-end 
but not distributed until the months of July and August 2018.

v)  Income Tax

ACPS, as a component unit of the City of Alexandria, is exempt from all income taxes imposed by any 
governing body, and, accordingly, no provision for income taxes is recorded.
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NOTE 2. Deposits and Investments

ACPS cash balances from all funds are combined and invested to the extent available by the City 
Treasurer. ACPS maintains a controlled disbursement account by which funds are automatically 
transferred from the City’s pooled account to pay ACPS checks drawn on the ACPS account. Since 
ACPS’ cash and investments are maintained and controlled by the City, ACPS’ equity in pooled cash 
held in the City treasury is presented in the fi nancial statements as due from the City of Alexandria.

A. Deposits

As of June 30, 2018, the carrying value of ACPS’ deposits held by the City was $2.1 million in overdraft, 
of which the City will guarantee payment. ACPS’s balances for student activity agency funds was 
$0.5 million and the carrying amount of deposits held by area fi nancial institutions was $0.5 million. 
The entire bank balance for each of these accounts was covered by federal depository insurance or 
collateralized in accordance with the Virginia Security for Public Deposits Act (the Act). The Act provides 
for the pooling of collateral pledged with the Treasurer of Virginia to secure public deposits as a class. 
No specifi c collateral can be identifi ed as security for one public depositor and public depositors are 
prohibited from holding collateral in their name as security for deposits. The State Treasury Board 
is responsible for monitoring compliance with the collateralization and reporting requirements of the 
Act and for notifying local governments of compliance by banks and savings and loan associations. 
A multiple fi nancial institution collateral pool that provides for additional assessments is similar to 
depository insurance. If any member institution fails, the entire collateral pool becomes available to 
satisfy the claims of governmental entities. Funds deposited in accordance with the requirements of 
the Act are considered fully secured. The City maintains all ACPS funds except for those of the agency 
fund, which are maintained by school principals, and the pension trust fund, which is maintained by the 
pension administrator. 

B. Investments

The City Treasurer’s investment policies apply to the ACPS investments controlled by the City. The 
Treasurer’s investment policy addresses custodial risk, interest rate risk, and credit risk, in which 
instruments are to be diversifi ed and maturities timed according to anticipated needs in order to minimize 
any exposure. There is no foreign currency risk since the City’s investment policy limits investments to 
obligations of the United States and agencies thereof, commercial paper, banker’s acceptances and 
repurchase agreements fully collateralized in obligations of the United States and agencies thereof and 
the State Treasurer’s Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP), CDARS (the Certifi cate of Deposit 
Account Registry Service), ICS (Insured Cash Sweeps) and NOW accounts (Negotiable Order of 
Withdrawal).

During fi scal year 2018, most of the City investments were placed in the State Treasurer’s Local 
Government Investment  Pool (LGIP). The LGIP is under the supervision of the Virginia Treasury Board 
and audited by  the Auditor of Public Accounts. However, some investments were made in CDARS, 
ICS and NOW accounts were deposits are eligible for FDIC insurance. The LGIP is rated ‘AAAm’ by 
Standard & Poor’s Rating Services. This rating is the highest principal stability fund rating assigned by 
Standard & Poor.
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The City and its discretely presented components units’ investments are subject to interest rate, credit 
and custodial risk as described below.

• Interest Rate Risk- As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising 
interest rates, the City’s investment policy limits at least half of the City’s investment portfolio to 
maturities of less than one year.

• Credit Risk – State Statutes authorize the City to invest in obligations of the US or agencies 
thereof, obligations of the Commonwealth of Virginia or political subdivision thereof, commercial 
paper rated A-1 by Standard and Poor’s Corporation or P-1 by Moody’s Commercial Paper Record, 
banker’s acceptances, repurchase agreements and Virginia Local Government Investment Pool. 
The City’s current investment policy limits investments to obligations of the US and agencies thereof, 
commercial paper and repurchase agreements fully collateralized in the Obligations of the United 
States and agencies thereof and the State Treasurer’s Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP), 
CDARS (the Certifi cate of Deposit Account Registry Service, a service that allows FDIC insured 
institutions to provide their customers with access to full FDIC insurance on CD investments up to 
$50 million), Insured Cash Sweeps (ICS) and NOW accounts (Negotiable Order of Withdrawal, an 
interest bearing bank account with which the customer is permitted to write drafts against money 
held on deposit). During the fi scal year, the City held its investments in LGIP, CDARS, ICS and 
NOW accounts, commercial paper, and investments of US agencies and VA municipalities. 

• Custodial Risk – For an investment, custodial risk is the risk that in the event of the failure of 
the counter party the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral 
securities that are in the possession of an outside party. Currently all City investments are held 
in LGIP, CDARS, ICS and NOW accounts. In the event the City has to invest in a local bank, 
the City requires a designated portfolio manager and, at the time funds are invested, collateral 
for repurchase agreements be held in the City’s name by a custodial agent for the term of the 
agreement and investments in obligations of the United States or its agencies be held by the 
Federal Reserve in a custodial account.

ACPS participates in three pension plans, see Note 7. Two of these plans are part of the Virginia 
Retirement System (VRS) and are managed by the Commonwealth of Virginia. The Board has directed 
the Principal Financial Group, a company with an A+ (Superior) rating, the second highest, by A.M. Best 
rating agency, to invest funds for the School Supplemental Retirement defi ned benefi t pension plan. 
Assets of the pension plans are invested by the pension carriers in accordance with the provisions of 
the Code of the Commonwealth of Virginia. The Board requires the pension carrier to invest the funds 
in a manner that fully guarantees the principal amount of the plan’s assets. 

At June 30, 2018, the trust and pension plan investment balances for ACPS were as follows:
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The pension plan investments consist of unallocated insurance contracts which are valued at contract 
value. Contract value represents contributions made under the contract, plus interest at the contract 
rate, less refunds used to purchase annuities or pay administrative expenses. Funds under the contract 
that have been allocated and applied to purchase annuities are excluded from the pension plan’s 
assets.

The following is a reconciliation of total deposits and investments to the government-wide fi nancial 
statements and statement of fi duciary net position at June 30, 2018.

C. ACPS OPEB Trust Fund

Deposit and Investment Policies

The authority to establish the trust fund is set forth in Section 15.2-1244 of the Code, which provides for 
the purchase of investments that meet the standard of judgment and care set forth in Section 51.1-803 
of the Code. ACPS, in accordance with this election, has joined the Virginia Pooled OPEB Trust Fund. 
Deposits to this trust are irrevocable and are held solely for the payment of OPEB benefi ts for ACPS.

ACPS invests the OPEB Trust Fund’s assets with the Virginia Pooled OPEB Trust Fund (Pooled Trust) 
sponsored by the Virginia Municipal League and the Virginia Association of Counties (VML/VACo). 
The Pooled Trust is a pooled investment vehicle for participating local governments, school districts, 
and authorities in the State to accumulate and invest assets to fund other post-employment benefi ts. 
Investment decisions are made by the Board of Trustees (Trustees) of the Pooled Trust.

The ACPS OPEB Trust Fund’s investment as of June 30, 2018, is summarized below:
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Equity Asset Class

Balanced Asset Allocation

Fixed Income Asset Class

D. ACPS Investments Measured at Fair Value

ACPS categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally 
accepted accounting principles. Fair value is a sale price agreed to by a willing buyer and seller, 
assuming both parties enter the transaction freely. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used 
to measure fair value of the assets. Level 1 inputs are valued using prices quoted in active markets 
for identical assets. Level 2 inputs are observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, 
such as quoted prices for similar assets in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets 
in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborate by observable 
market data. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and 
that are signifi cant to the fair value of the assets. This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash 
fl ow methodologies and similar techniques that use signifi cant unobservable inputs.

The following is a summary of the fair value hierarchy of the fair value of investments of ACPS as of 
June 30, 2018.
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At the end of FY 2018, for investments controlled by the City Treasurer, there were $1.5 million classifi ed 
in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy, valued using prices quoted in active markets, and $23.5 million 
classifi ed in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, valued using a matrix pricing technique. The Level 2 
investments included fi xed government securities worth $5.4 million, taxable municipal securities worth 
$56 thousand and fi xed certifi cates of deposit worth $10.1 million. The City also held $7.9 million in the 
Virginia Investment Pool measured at net asset value (NAV).

NOTE 3. Prepaid Items

As of June 30, 2018, prepaid items totaled $1.3 million and represent payments to vendors applicable 
to future accounting periods. 

NOTE 4. Due from Other Governments

Amounts due from other governments at June 30, 2018 were:
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NOTE 5. Capital Assets

The following is a summary of the changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2018.

In response to GASB Statement No. 34, the Virginia General Assembly passed a law that establishes 
local option of creating, for fi nancial reporting purposes, a tenancy in common between the city and the 
local school board when a city issues bonds for fi nancing school construction. The sole purpose of the 
law is to allow cities and counties the ability to match the recording of school assets and related liabilities. 
As a result, certain school assets fi nanced with the City’s general obligation bonds are recorded as part 
of the primary government rather than as part of ACPS. According to the law, the tenancy in common 
ends when the associated general obligation bonds are repaid; at which time, the assets will revert to 
the ACPS. Capital debt fi nancing activities are only reported in the City’s fi nancial statements. As of 
June 30, 2018, the City holds approximately $347.7 million in gross assets used by ACPS. No capital 
assets reverted to ACPS in 2018.

Capital outlays are reported as expenditures in the governmental funds; however, in the statement of 
activities, the cost of capitalized assets is allocated over their useful lives as depreciation expense. The 
adjustment from governmental funds to the government-wide statements is summarized as follows:
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NOTE 6. Lease Obligations

Operating Leases

ACPS leases offi  ce equipment and offi  ce space under various long-term leases expiring at various 
dates. Certain leases contain provisions for possible future increased rentals based on changes in the 
Consumer Price Index. Total costs for such leases were $2.9 million for the year ended June 30, 2018. 

During September 2013, ACPS signed a 15 year lease agreement to relocate the central offi  ce and 
various other ACPS departments. The original lease began June 1, 2014 and was amended to begin 
April 21, 2014. This lease includes a 16.8 month rent abatement period. The period of rent abatement 
is from April 21, 2014 to September 15, 2015 and the value of the abatement was approximately $2.91 
million. The rent abatement will be amortized over the life of the lease. Total future minimum payments 
for this lease are included in the schedule of minimum lease payments below.

Scheduled minimum lease payments for succeeding fi scal years ending June 30 are as follows:

Capital Leases

In May 2016, ACPS entered into a capital lease agreement for district-wide copier printers and 
scanners with a lease commencement date of July 01, 2016. The lease term is for 5 years and 
provides for lease payments totalling $3.2 million over the life of the lease. The annual lease payments 
are refl ected in the below table.
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The assets acquired through capital leases are as follows:

Current year depreciation expense for the assets acquired through capital lease is included in the 
depreciation expense disclosed in Note 5.

NOTE 7. Retirement Plans

ACPS participates in three public employee retirement systems (PERS). Two of these systems, a cost-
sharing multiple-employer plan (professional) and an agent multiple-employer plan (non-professional), 
are administered by the Virginia Retirement System (VRS) and are, therefore, not refl ected as ACPS 
pension trust funds. The third plan, Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan (Supplemental Plan), is 
a single-employer defi ned benefi t plan, where a stated methodology for determining pension benefi ts is 
provided. This plan is part of ACPS’ reporting entity and, as such, is refl ected as a Pension Trust Fund.

The actuarial valuation for the Supplemental Plan is performed annually. The actuarial valuation for VRS 
is performed biennially; however, an actuarial update is performed in the interim year.

In the Supplemental Plan, no changes occurred in the actuarial valuation assumptions, plan benefi ts, 
actuarial cost method or procedures aff ecting the comparability of costs.

A. Virginia Retirement System
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            
Plan Description

All full-time salaried permanent (professional) employees of Alexandria City Public Schools (ACPS) 
are automatically covered by the VRS Teacher Retirement Plan upon employment. All full-time salaried 
permanent employees (non-professional) of ACPS are automatically covered by the VRS Political 
Subdivision Retirement Plan. These plans are administered by the Virginia Retirement System (The 
System or VRS) along with plans for other employer groups in the commonwealth of Virginia.  Members 
earn one month of service credit for each month they are employed and for which they and their employer 
pay contributions to VRS.  Members are eligible to purchase prior service, based on specifi c criteria as 
defi ned in the Code of Virginia, as amended.  Eligible prior service that may be purchased includes prior 
public service, active military service, certain periods of leave, and previously refunded service.

The System administers three diff erent benefi t structures for covered employees in the VRS Teacher 
Retirement Plan and VRS Political Subdivision Retirement Plan – Plan 1, Plan 2, and Hybrid.  Each of 
these benefi t structures has a diff erent eligibility criteria.  The specifi c information for each plan and the 
eligibility for covered groups within each plan are set out in the following table.
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VRS 
Plan 1 

VRS 
Plan 2 

VRS Hybrid  
Retirement Plan 

 
About Plan 1   
 
Plan 1 is a defined benefit plan.  The 
Retirement benefit is based on a 
member’s age, creditable service and 
average final compensation at retirement 
using a formula. Employees are eligible for 
Plan 1 if their membership date is before 
July 1, 2010 and they were vested as of 
January 1, 2013. 

 

About Plan 2 
 
Plan 2 is a defined benefit plan.  The 
retirement benefit is based on a member’s 
age, creditable service and average final 
compensation at Retirement using a 
formula. Employees are eligible for Plan 2 
if their membership date is on or after July 
1, 2010, or their membership date is 
before July 1, 2010, and they were not 
vested as of January 1, 2013.  
 

About the Hybrid Retirement Plan 
 
The Hybrid Retirement Plan combines the 
features of a defined benefit plan and a 
defined contribution plan.  Most members 
hired on or after January 1,2014 are in this 
plan, as well as Plan 1 and Plan 2 members 
who were eligible and opted into the plan 
during a special election window.  (See 
“Eligible Members”). 

 The defined benefit is based on 
member’s age, creditable service and 
average final compensation at 
retirement using a formula. 

 The benefit from the defined 
contribution component of the plan 
depends on the member and 
employer contributions made to the 
plan and the investment performance 
of those contributions. 

 In addition to the monthly benefit 
payment payable from the defined 
benefit plan at retirement, a member 
may start receiving distributions from 
the balance in the defined 
contribution account, reflecting the 
contributions, investment gains or 
losses, and any required fees. 

 
Eligible Members 
 
Employees are in Plan 1 if their 
membership date is before July 1, 2010 
and they were vested as of January 1, 
2013, and they have not taken a refund. 
 
 
 
Hybrid Opt-In Election 
 
VRS non-hazardous duty covered Plan 1 
members were allowed to make an 
irrevocable decision to opt into the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan during a special election 
window held January 1 through April 30, 
2014. 
The Hybrid Retirement Plan’s effective 
date for eligible Plan 1 members who 
opted in was July 1, 2014. 
If eligible deferred members returned to 
work during the election window, they 
were also eligible to opt into the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan. 
Political Subdivision Plan Only: 
Members who were eligible for an 
optional retirement plan (ORP) and had 
prior service under Plan 1 were not eligible 
to elect the Hybrid Retirement Plan and 
remain as Plan 1 or ORP. 
 

Eligible Members 
 
Employees are in Plan 2 if their 
membership date is on or after July 1, 
2010, or their membership date is before 
July 1, 2010, and they were not vested as 
of January 1, 2013. 
 
 
Hybrid Opt-In Election 
 
Eligible Plan 2 members were allowed to 
make an irrevocable decision to opt into 
the Hybrid Retirement Plan during a 
special election window held January 1 
through April 30, 2014. 
The Hybrid Retirement Plan’s effective 
date for eligible Plan 2 members who 
opted in was July 1, 2014. 
If eligible deferred members returned to 
work during the election window, they 
were also eligible to opt into the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan. 
 
Political Subdivision Plan Only: 
Members who were eligible for an 
optional retirement plan (ORP) and have 
prior service under Plan 2 were not eligible 
to elect the Hybrid Retirement Plan and 
remain as Plan 2 or ORP. 
 

Eligible Members 
 
Employees are in the Hybrid Retirement 
Plan if their membership date is on or 
after January 1, 2014.  This includes: 
School division employees and Political 
subdivision employees* 
Members in Plan 1 or Plan 2 who elected 
to opt into the plan during the election 
window held January 1-April 30, 2014; the 
plan’s effective date for opt-in members 
was July 1, 2014 
 
*Non-Eligible Members 
Some employees are not eligible to 
participate in the Hybrid Retirement Plan.  
They include: 
Political Subdivision employees who are 
covered by enhanced benefits for 
hazardous duty employees. 
Those employees eligible for an optional 
retirement plan (ORP) must elect the 
Hybrid retirement Plan.  If these members 
have prior service under Plan 1 or Plan 2, 
they are not eligible to elect the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan and must select Plan 1 or 
Plan 2 (as applicable) or ORP. 
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VRS 
Plan 1 

VRS 
Plan 2 

VRS Hybrid  
Retirement Plan 

 
 
 
Retirement Contributions 
 
Employees contribute 5% of their 
compensation each month to their 
member contribution account through a 
pre-tax salary reduction.  Some political 
subdivisions elected to phase in the 
required 5% member contribution but all 
employees will be paying the full 5% by 
July 1, 2016.  Member contributions are 
tax –deferred until they are withdrawn as 
part of a retirement benefit or as a refund.  
The employer makes a separate actuarially 
determined contribution to VRS for all 
covered employees.  VRS invests both 
member and employer contributions to 
provide funding for the future benefit 
payment. 

Retirement Contributions 
 
Employees contribute 5% of their 
compensation each month to their 
member contribution account through a 
pre-tax salary reduction.  Some political 
subdivisions elected to phase in their 
required 5% member contribution but all 
employees will be paying the full 5% by 
July 1, 2016. 
 

 

Retirement Contributions 
 
A member’s retirement benefit is funded 
through mandatory and voluntary 
contributions made by the member and 
the employer to both the defined benefit 
and the defined contribution components 
of the plan.  Mandatory contributions are 
based on a percentage of the employee’s 
creditable compensation and are required 
from both the member and the employer.  
Additionally, members may choose to 
make voluntary contributions to the 
defined contribution component of the 
plan, and the employer is required to 
match those voluntary contributions 
according to specified percentages. 
 
 

Creditable Service 
 
Creditable service includes active service.  
Members earn creditable service for each 
month they are employed in a covered 
position.  It also may include credit for 
prior service the member has purchased 
or additional creditable service the 
member was granted.  A member’s total 
creditable service is one of the factors 
used to determine their eligibility for 
retirement and to calculate their 
retirement benefit.  It also may count 
toward eligibility for the health insurance 
credit in retirement, if the employer offers 
the health insurance credit. 

Creditable Service  
 
Same as Plan 1. 

Creditable Service                             
Defined Benefit Component: 
Under the defined contribution 
component, creditable service is used to 
determine vesting for the employer 
contribution portion of the plan. 

Vesting 
 
Vesting is the minimum length of service a 
member needs to qualify for a future 
retirement benefit.  Members become 
vested when they have at least five year 
(60 months) of creditable service.  Vesting 
means members are eligible to qualify for 
retirement if they meet the age and 
service requirements for their plan.  
Members also must be vested to receive a 
full refund of their member contribution 
account balance if they leave employment 
and request a refund. 
Members are always 100% vested in the 
contributions that they make 

Vesting 
 
Same as Plan 1. 
 
 

Vesting                                                         
Defined Benefit Component                             
Defined benefit vesting is the minimum 
length of service a member needs to 
qualify for a future retirement benefit.  
Members are vested under the defined 
benefit component of the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan when they reach five 
years (60 months) of creditable service.  
Plan 1 or Plan 2 members with at least five 
years (60 months) of creditable service 
who opted into the Hybrid Retirement 
Plan remain vested in the defined benefit 
component. 
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VRS 
Plan 1 

VRS 
Plan 2 

VRS Hybrid  
Retirement Plan 

 
  

 
 
Defined Contributions Component: 
 
Defined contribution vesting refers to the 
minimum length of service a member 
needs to be eligible to withdraw the 
employer contributions from the defined 
contribution component of the plan. 
Members are always 100% vested in the 
contributions that they make.   
Upon retirement or leaving covered 
employment, a member is eligible to 
withdraw a percentage of employer 
contributions to the defined contribution 
component of the plan, based on service. 

 After two years a member is 50% 
vested and may withdraw 50% of 
employer contributions 

 After three years, a member is 75% 
vested and may withdraw 75% of 
employer contributions. 

 After four or more years, member is 
100% vested and may withdraw 100% 
of employer contributions. 

Distribution is not required by law until 
age 70 ½. 
 
 

Calculating the Benefit 
 
The Basic Benefit is calculated based on 
formula using the member’s average final 
compensation, a retirement multiplier and 
total service credit at retirement.  It is one 
of the benefit payout options available to 
a member at retirement. 
An early retirement reduction factor is 
applied to the Basic Benefit if the member 
retires with a reduced retirement benefit 
or selects a benefit payout option other 
than the Basic Benefit. 

Calculating the Benefit 
 
See definition under Plan 1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Calculating the Benefit                                      
Defined Benefit Component: 
See definition under Plan 1 
The benefit is based on contributions 
made by the member and any matching 
contributions made by the member made 
by the employer, plus net investment 
earnings on those contributions. 
 
Defined Contribution Component: 
The benefit is based on contributions 
made by the member and any matching 
contributions made by the employer, plus 
net investment earnings on those 
contributions. 
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VRS 
Plan 1 

VRS 
Plan 2 

VRS Hybrid  
Retirement Plan 

 
Average Final Compensation 
A member’s average final compensation is 
the average of the 36 consecutive months 
of highest compensation as a covered 
employee. 
 

Average Final Compensation 
A member’s average final compensation is 
the average of their 60 consecutive 
months of highest compensation as a 
covered employee. 

Average Final Compensation 
Same as Plan 2.  It is used in the 
retirement formula for the defined benefit 
component of the plan. 
 

Service Retirement Multiplier 
VRS:  The retirement multiplier is a factor 
used in the formula to determine a final 
retirement benefit.  The Retirement 
multiplier for non-hazardous duty 
members is 1.70%. 
 

Service Retirement Multiplier 
VRS:  Same as Plan 1 for service earned, 
purchased or granted prior to January 1, 
2013.  For non-hazardous duty members 
the retirement multiplier is 1.65% for 
creditable service earned, purchased or 
granted on or after January 1, 2013. 
 
 
 
Political Subdivisions hazardous duty 
employees:  Age 60 
Normal Retirement Age     
VRS:  Normal Social Security retirement 
age.         

Service Retirement Multiplier                          
Defined Benefit Component:                      
VRS:  the retirement multiplier for the 
defined benefit component is 1.00%. 
For members who opted into the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan from Plan 1 or Plan 2, the 
applicable multipliers for those plans will 
be used to calculate the retirement 
benefit for service credited in those plans. 
 
Political Subdivision hazardous duty 
employees:  Not applicable. 
 
Defined Contribution Component: 
Not applicable. 

Normal Retirement Age           
 VRS:  Age 65.                               
Political Subdivisions hazardous duty 
employees:  Age 60. 
 
 

Normal Retirement Age             
VRS:  Age 65. 
Political Subdivisions hazardous duty 
employees:  Age 60. 
 

Normal Retirement Age          
VRS:   
Defined Benefit Component:                  
Same as Plan 2.                                       
Political Subdivisions hazardous duty 
employees:  Not applicable. 
Defined Contribution Component:                  
Members are eligible to receive 
distributions upon leaving employment, 
subject to restrictions. 
 

Earliest Unreduced Retirement  
Eligibility VRS:  Age 65 with at least five 
years (60 months) of creditable service or 
at age 50 with at least 30 years of 
creditable service. 
 
 
Political subdivisions hazardous duty 
employees:  Age 60 with at last five years 
of creditable service or age 50 with at least 
25 years of creditable service. 

 
 

Earliest Unreduced Retirement  
Eligibility VRS:  Normal Social Security 
retirement age  with at least five years (60 
months) of creditable service or when 
their age and service equal 90. 
 
 
Political subdivisions hazardous duty 
employees:  Age 60 with at last five years 
of creditable service or age 50 with at least 
25 years of creditable service. 
 
 
  

Earliest Unreduced Retirement  
Eligibility    VRS:   
Defined Benefit Component:  Normal 
Social Security retirement age with at least 
five years (60 months) of creditable 
service or when their age and service 
equal 90.              
 
 Political subdivisions hazardous duty 
employees:  Not applicable.    
 
Defined Contribution Component: 
Members are eligible to receive 
distributions upon leaving employment, 
subject to restrictions. 
 
 
  

Earliest Reduced Retirement Eligibility        
 VRS:  Age 55 with at least five years (60 
months) if creditable service or age 50 
with at least 10 years of creditable service. 

Earliest Reduced Retirement Eligibility          
 VRS:  Age 60 with at least five years (60 
months) of creditable service. 

Earliest Unreduced Retirement Eligibility      
VRS: 
Defined Benefit Component:    
Any Members may retire with a reduced 
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VRS 
Plan 1 

VRS 
Plan 2 

VRS Hybrid  
Retirement Plan 

 
 
 
 
 

benefit as early as age 60 with at least five 
years (60 months) or creditable service.        

Political subdivisions hazardous duty 
employees:  50 with at least five years of 
creditable service. 

 

Political subdivisions hazardous duty 
employees:  50 with at least five years of 
creditable service. 
 
  

Political subdivisions hazardous duty 
employees:  Not applicable. 
Defined Contribution Component:     
Members are eligible to receive 
distributions upon leaving employment, 
subject to restrictions.                          
 

 
Cost-of Living Adjustment (COLA) in 
Retirement                 
 
The Cost-of-Living Adjustment (COLA) 
matches the first 3% increase in the 
consumer Price Index for all Urban 
Consumers (CPI-U) and half of any 
additional increase (up to 4%) up to a 
maximum COLA of 5%. 
 
Eligibility:                                             
 
For members who retire with an 
unreduced benefit or with a reduced 
benefit with at least 20 years of creditable 
service, the COLA will go into effect on July 
1 after one full calendar year from the 
retirement date. 
For members who retire with a reduced 
benefit and who have less than 20 years of 
creditable service, the COLA will go into 
effect on July 1 after one calendar year 
following unreduced retirement eligibility 
date. 
 
Exceptions to COLA Effective Dates:               
 The COLA is effective July 1 following one 
full calendar year (January 1 to December 
31) under any of the following 
circumstances:   

 The member is within five years 
of qualifying for an unreduced 
retirement benefit as of January 
1, 2013. 

 The member retires on 
disability. 

 The member retires directly 
from short-term or long-term 
disability under the Virginia 
Sickness and Disability Program 
(VSDP). 

 The member is involuntarily 
separated from employment for 
causes other than job 
performance or misconduct and 
is eligible to retire under the 
Workforce Transition Act of the 
Transitional Benefits Program. 

Cost-of Living Adjustment (COLA) in 
Retirement                 
 
The Cost-of-Living Adjustment (COLA) 
matches the first 2% increase in the 
consumer Price Index for all Urban 
Consumers (CPI-U) and half of any 
additional increase (up to 2%) up to a 
maximum COLA of 3%. 
 
Eligibility:                                             
 
Same as Plan 1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Exceptions to COLA Effective Dates:               
Same as Plan 1.                                 
 

Cost-of-Living Adjustment (COLA) in 
Retirement                    
Defined Benefit Component:   
Same as Plan 2. 
 
Defined Contribution component:                  
Not applicable.          
 
 
 
Eligibility:                         
 
 Same as Plan 1 and Plan 2.      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Exceptions to COLA Effective Dates:               
Same as Plan 1 and Plan 2. 
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VRS 
Plan 1 

VRS 
Plan 2 

VRS Hybrid  
Retirement Plan 

 

 

 The member dies in service and 
the member’s survivor or 
beneficiary is eligible for a 
monthly death-in-service 
benefit.  The COLA will go into 
effect on July 1 following one 
full calendar year (January 1 to 
December 31) from the date the 
monthly benefit begins. 
 

 
 
Disability Coverage          
Members who are eligible to be 
considered for disability retirement and 
retire on disability, the retirement 
multiplier is 1.7% on all service, regardless 
of when it was earned, purchased or 
granted. 
 

 
Disability Coverage             
Members who are eligible to be 
considered for disability retirement and 
retire on disability, the retirement 
multiplier is 1.65% on all service, 
regardless of when it was earned, 
purchased or granted. 
 
 

 
Disability Coverage                
Employees of school divisions and political 
subdivision (including Plan 1 and Plan 2 
opt-ins) participate in the Virginia Local 
Disability Program (VLDP) unless their local 
governing body provides an employer-paid 
comparable program for its members. 
Hybrid members (including Plan 1 and Plan 
2 opt-ins) covered under VLDP are subject 
to a one-year waiting period before 
becoming eligible for non-work-related 
disability benefits. 
 

 
Purchase of Prior Service 
 Members may be eligible to purchase 
service from previous public employment, 
active duty military service, an eligible 
period of leave or VRS refunded service as 
creditable service in their plan.  Prior 
creditable service counts toward vesting 
eligibility for retirement and the health 
insurance credit.  Only active members are 
eligible to purchase prior service.  When 
buying service, members must purchase 
their most recent period of service first.  
Members also may be eligible to purchase 
periods of leave without pay. 

Purchase of Prior Service      
Same as Plan 1. 

Purchase of Prior Service      
Defined Benefit component:   
Same as Plan 1, with the following 
exceptions: 

 Hybrid Retirement Plan members are 
ineligible for ported service 

 
Defined Contribution Component:    
Not applicable. 
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VRS Political Subdivision Retirement Plan

The Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Political Subdivision Retirement Plan is a multi-employer, agent 
plan. For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outfl ows of resources and deferred 
infl ows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fi duciary net 
position of the Political Subdivision’s Retirement Plan and the additions to/deductions from the Political 
Subdivision’s Retirement Plan’s net fi duciary position have been determined on the same basis as they 
were reported by the Virginia Retirement System (VRS). For this purpose, benefi t payments (including 
refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the 
benefi t terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

Employees Covered by Benefi t Terms

As of the June 30, 2016 actuarial valuation, the following employees were covered by the benefi t terms 
of the pension plan:

Contributions
The contribution requirement for active employees is governed by §51.1-145 of the Code of Virginia, 
as amended, but may be impacted as a result of funding options provided to political subdivisions by 
the Virginia General Assembly. Employees are required to contribute 5.00% of their compensation 
towards their retirement. Prior to July 1, 2012, all or part of the 5.00% member contribution may have 
been assumed by the employer. Beginning July 1, 2012 new employees were required to pay the 5% 
member contribution. In addition, for existing employees, employers were required to begin making 
the employee pay the 5.00% member contribution. This could be phased in over a period of up to 5 
years and the employer is required to provide a salary increase equal to the amount increase in the 
employee-paid member contribution. 

ACPS’ contractually required contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 2018 was 2.25% of covered 
employee compensation. This rate was based on an actuarially determined rate from an actuarial 
valuation as of June 30, 2016.

This rate, when combined with employee contributions, was expected to fi nance the costs of benefi ts 
earned by employee during the year, with an additional amount to fi nance any unfunded accrued liability. 
Contributions to the pension plan from ACPS were $0.6 million for each of the years ended June 30, 
2018 and June 30, 2017, respectively.
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Actuarial Assumptions 
Inflation 2.5 percent  
Salary increases, including Inflation 3.5 percent – 5.35 percent  
Investment rate of return 7.0 Percent, net of pension plan investment 

expense, including inflation*  
Mortality rates:  20% of deaths are assumed to be service related 
Largest 10- Non-LEOS:  
- Pre-Retirement RP-2014 Employee Rates to age 80, Healthy 

Annuitant Rates at ages 81 and older 
projected with scale BB to 2020; males 95% of 
rates; females 105% of rates. 

- Post-Retirement RP-2014 Employee Rates to age 49, Healthy 
Annuitant Rates at ages 50 and older 
projected with scale BB to 2020; males set 
forward 3 years; females 1.0% increase 
compounded from ages 70 to 90. 

- Post-Disablement RP-2014 Disability Mortality Table Rates projected 
with scale BB to 2020; males set forward 2 years, 
110% of rates; females 125% of rates. 

All Others (non 10 Largest) Non-LEOS:  
- Pre-Retirement RP-2014 Employee Rates to age 80, Healthy 

Annuitant Rates at ages 81 and older projected 
with scale BB to 2020; males 95% of rates; females 
105% of rates. 

- Post-Retirement RP-2014 Employee Rates to age 49, Healthy 
Annuitant Rates at ages 50 and older projected 
with scale BB to 2020; males set forward 3 years; 
females 1.0% increase compounded from ages 70 
to 90. 

- Post-Disablement RP-2014 Disability Mortality Table Rates projected 
with scale BB to 2020; males set forward 2 years, 
110% of rates; females 125% of rates. 

* Administrative expenses as a percent of the market value of assets for the last experience study were found to be 
approximately 0.06% of the market assets for all of the VRS plans. This would provide an assumed investment return rate for 
GASB purposes of slightly more than the assumed 7.0%. However, since the difference was minimal, and a more conservative 
7.0% investment return assumption provided a projected plan net position that exceeded the projected benefit payments, 
the long-term expected rate of return on investments was assumed to be 7.0% to simplify preparation of pension liabilities. 
 

Net Pension Liability
ACPS’ net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2017. The total pension liability used to 
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of June 30, 
2016, using updated actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement and 
rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2017. 

Actuarial Assumptions- General Employees
The total pension liability for General Employees in the Political Subdivision’s Retirement Plan was 
based on an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method 
and the following assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward 
to the measurement date of June 30, 2017.
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The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2016 valuation were based on the results of an 
actuarial experience study for the period from July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2016. Changes to the 
actuarial assumptions as a result of the experience study are as follows:

Largest 10-Non-LEOS:
- Update mortality table
- Decrease in rates of service retirement at older ages
- Decrease in rates of disability retirement
- Adjusted withdrawal rates to better fi t experience

All Others (Non 10 Largest)-Non-LEOS:
- Update mortality table
- Decrease in rates of service retirement at older ages
- Decrease in rates of disability retirement
- Adjusted withdrawal rates to better fi t experience

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return
The long-term expected rate of return on pension System investments was determined using a 
log-normal distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of the expected future real rates of 
return(expected returns, net of pension System investment expense and infl ation) are developed for 
each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate return 
by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and 
by adding expected infl ation. The target asset allocation and best estimate of arithmetic real rates of 
return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

(1) The above allocation provides a one-year return of 7.30%. However, one-year returns do not take into account the volatility present 
in each of the asset classes. In setting the long-term expected return for the system, stochastic projections are employed to model future 
returns under various economic conditions. The results provide a range of returns over various time periods that ultimately provide a median 
return of 6.83 %, including expected infl ation of 2.50%.
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Increase(Decrease)

Discount Rate
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection of cash 
fl ows used to determine the discount rate assumed that System member contributions will be made 
in accordance with the rates adopted by VRS funding policy at rates equal  to diff erence between 
actuarially determined contribution rates adopted by VRS Board of Trustees and member rate. Through 
the fi scal year ending June 30, 2019, the rate contributed by the employer for the Political Subdivision 
Retirement Plan will be subject to the portion of the VRS Board-certifi ed rates that are funded by the 
Virginia General Assembly.  From July 1, 2019 on, participating employers are assumed to contribute 
100% of the actuarially determined contribution rates.  Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s 
fi duciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefi t payments of 
current active and inactive employees. Therefore the long-term expected rate of return was applied to 
all periods of projected benefi t payments to determine the total pension liability. 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate
The following presents the net pension liability of ACPS using the discount rate of 7%, as well as, what 
ACPS net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage 
point lower (6%) or one percentage point higher (8%) than the current rate:
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Pension Expense and Deferred Outfl ows of Resources and Deferred Infl ows of Resources Related to 
Pensions
For the year ended June 30, 2018, ACPS recognized pension expense of  ($0.6 million).  As of June 
30, 2018, ACPS reported deferred outfl ows of resources and deferred infl ows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources:

The $0.2 million reported as deferred outfl ows of resources related to pensions resulting from ACPS’s 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of Net Pension 
Liability in the year ended June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outfl ows and infl ows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Payables to the Pension Plan
At June 30, 2018, ACPS reported payables to the VRS Political Subdivision Retirement Plan of $60,000. 
These payables are refl ected in the balance sheet of the governmental funds and represent short-term 
amounts due for legally required contributions outstanding at the end of the fi scal year.  

Pension Plan Data
Information about the VRS Political Subdivision Retirement Plan’s is also available in the separately 
issued VRS 2016 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). A copy of the 2017 VRS CAFR may 
be downloaded from the VRS website at http://www.varetire.org/pdf/Publications/2017-annual-report.
pdf, or by writing to the system’s Chief Financial Offi  cer at P.O. Box 2500, Richmond, VA, 23218-2500.                   

VRS Teachers Retirement Plan

The Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Teacher Employee Retirement Plan is a multiple employer, cost-
sharing plan. For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outfl ows of resources and 
deferred infl ows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fi duciary 
net position of the Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Teacher Employee Retirement Plan and the 
additions to/deductions from the VRS Teacher Employee Retirement Plan’s net fi duciary position have 
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been determined on the same basis as they were reported by the VRS. In addition, benefi t payments 
(including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with 
the benefi t terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

Contributions
The contribution requirement for active employees is governed by Title 51.1-145 of the Code of Virginia, 
as amended, but may be impacted as a result of funding provided to school division by the Virginia 
General Assembly.  Employees are required to contribute 5.00% of their compensation toward their 
retirement.  Each school division’s contractually required contribution rate for the year ended June 
30, 2018 was 16.32% of covered employee compensation. This rate was based on an actuarially 
determined rate from an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016, and refl ects the transfer in June 2016 
of $192.9 million as an accelerated payback of the deferred contribution in the 2010-2012 biennium.   
The actuarially determined rate, when combined with employee contributions, was expected to fi nance 
the costs of benefi ts earned by employee during the year, with an additional amount to fi nance any 
unfunded accrued liability. Contributions to the pension plan from ACPS were $27.0 million and $28.1 
million for the years ended June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017, respectively.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outfl ows of Resources and Deferred Infl ows of 
Resources Related to Pensions
At June 30, 2018, ACPS reported a liability of $227.2 million for its proportionate share of the Net 
Pension Liability.  The Net Pension Liability was measured as of June 30, 2017 and the total pension 
liability used to calculate the Net Pension Liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that 
date.  ACPS’ proportion of the Net Pension Liability was based on the school division’s actuarially 
determined employer contributions to the pension plan for the year ended June 30, 2017 relative to the 
total of the actuarially determined employer contributions for all participating employers.  At June 30, 
2017, the school division’s proportion was 1.84758% as compared to 1.85263% at June 30, 2016. 

For the year ended June 30, 2018, ACPS recognized pension expense of $17.4 million.  Since there 
was a change in proportionate share between measurement dates, a portion of the pension expense 
was related to deferred amounts from changes in proportion and from diff erences between employer 
contributions and the proportionate share of employer contributions.

At June 30, 2018, ACPS reported deferred outfl ows of resources and deferred infl ows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources:
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Actuarial Assumptions 
Inflation 2.5 percent  
Salary increases, including Inflation 3.5 percent – 5.95 percent  
Investment rate of return 7.0 Percent, net of pension plan investment 

expense, including inflation*  
Mortality rates:   
- Pre-Retirement RP-2014 White Collar Employee Rates to age 

80, White Collar Healthy Annuitant Rates at 
ages 81 and older projected with scale BB to 
2020. 

- Post-Retirement RP-2014 White Collar Employee Rates to age 
49, White Collar Healthy Annuitant Rates at 
ages 50 and older projected with scale BB to 
2020; males 1% increase compounded from 
ages 70 to 90; females set back 3 years with 
1.5% increase compounded from ages 65 to 
70 and 2.0% increase compounded from ages 
75 to 90. 

- Post-Disablement RP-2014 Disability Mortality Rates projected with 
scale BB to 2020; 115% of rates for males and 
females. 

* Administrative expenses as a percent of the market value of assets for the last experience study were found to be 
approximately 0.06% of the market assets for all of the VRS plans. This would provide an assumed investment return rate for 
GASB purposes of slightly more than the assumed 7.0%. However, since the difference was minimal, and a more conservative 
7.0% investment return assumption provided a projected plan net position that exceeded the projected benefit payments, 
the long-term expected rate of return on investments was assumed to be 7.0% to simplify preparation of pension liabilities. 
 

The deferred outfl ows of resources of $24.2 million related to pensions, resulting from the school 
division’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as a reduction of the 
Net Pension Liability in the year ended June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outfl ows 
and infl ows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Actuarial Assumptions
The total pension liability for the VRS Teacher Retirement Plan was based on an actuarial valuation 
as of June 30,2016, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method and the following assumptions, 
applied to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 
30,  2017.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2016 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial 
experience study for the four-year period from July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2016.
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Changes to the actuarial assumptions as a result of the experience study are as follows:

- Updated mortality table
- Lowered rates of retirement at older ages
- Adjusted rates of withdrawals for 0 through 9 years of service
- Adjusted rates of disability to better match experience

Net Pension Liability
The net pension liability (NPL) is calculated separately for each system and represents that particular 
system’s total pension liability determined in accordance with GASB Statement No. 67, less that system’s 
fi duciary net position. As of June 30, 2017, NPL amounts for the VRS Teacher Employee Retirement 
Plan is as follows (amounts expressed in thousands):

The total pension liability is calculated by the System’s actuary, and each plan’s fi duciary net position 
is reported in the System’s fi nancial statements. The net pension liability is disclosed in accordance 
with the requirements of GASB Statement No. 67 in the System’s notes to the fi nancial statements and 
required supplementary information.

Long – Term Expected Rate of Return
The long-term expected rate of return on pension System investments were determined using a log-
normal distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected 
returns, net of pension System investment expense and infl ation) are developed for each major asset 
class.  These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the 
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected 
infl ation.  The target asset allocation and best estimate of arithmetic real rates of return for each major 
asset class are summarized in the following table:

(1) The above allocation provides a one-year return of 7.30%. However, one-year returns do not take into account the volatility present in 
each of the asset classes. In setting the long-term expected return for the system, stochastic projections are employed to model future returns 
under various economic conditions. The results provide a range of returns over various time periods that ultimately provide a median return of 
6.83 %, including expected infl ation of 2.50%.
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Discount Rate
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%.  The projection of cash fl ows 
used to determine the discount rate assumed that member contributions will be made per the VRS 
Statutes and the employer contributions will be made in accordance with the VRS funding policy at 
rates equal to the diff erence between actuarially determined contribution rates adopted by the VRS 
Board of Trustees and the member rate.  Through the fi scal year ending June 30, 2019, the rate 
contributed by ACPS for the VRS Teacher Retirement Plan will be subject to the portion of the VRS 
Board-certifi ed rates that are funded by the Virginia General Assembly.  From July 1, 2019 on, school 
divisions are assumed to contribute 100% of the actuarially determined contribution rates.  Based on 
those assumptions, the pension plan’s fi duciary net position was projected to be available to make all 
projected future benefi t payments of current active and inactive employees.   Therefore the long-term 
expected rate of return was applied to all periods of projected benefi t payments to determine the total 
pension liability

Sensitivity of the School Division’s Proportionate share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the 
Discount Rate
The following presents ACPS’ proportionate share of the net pension liability using the discount rate of 
7.00%, as well as what the school division’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if 
it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage lower (6.00%) or one percentage point 
higher (8.00%) than the current rate:

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Detailed information about the VRS Teacher Retirement Plan’s Fiduciary Net Position is available in the 
separately issued VRS 2017 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR).  A copy of the 2017 VRS 
CAFR may be downloaded from the VRS website at http://www.varetire.org/Pdf/Publications/2017-
annual-report.pdf or by writing to the System’s Chief Financial Offi  cer at P.O. Box 2500, Richmond, VA  
23218-2500.

Payables to the Pension Plan
At June 30, 2018, ACPS reported payables to the VRS Teacher Retirement Plan of $3.3 million. These 
payables are refl ected in the balance sheet of the governmental funds and represent short-term 
amounts due for legally required contributions outstanding at the end of the fi scal year.

B. Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan

Plan Description
The Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan (the Plan) is a single-employer defi ned benefi t plan 
sponsored by ACPS. The Plan is governed by the Alexandria School Board (Board) which has the 
authority to make all investment and policy decisions impacting the Plan’s existence, investments, 
benefi ts, and administration. The Board has established an Investment Advisory Board (Advisory 
Board) to monitor and manage the Plan. The Advisory Board consist of fi ve members: 1) the Plan 
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Administrator/ ACPS Chief Human Resource Offi  cer; 2) the Plan Investment Offi  cer/ ACPS Chief 
Financial Offi  cer; 3) one teacher member selected from among active employee participants; 4) one 
retired member actively earning benefi ts from the plan; and 5) one certifi ed investment management 
professional. The Board has contracted with the Principal Financial Group to manage certain plan 
assets and administer the retirement benefi ts to the plan participants.

The purpose of the Plan is to provide supplemental retirement benefi ts to employees of Alexandria City 
Public Schools. Statutory authority for the establishment of this Plan is provided by the Code of Virginia 
§51.1-800 through §51.1-803.

All full-time employees are eligible to participate in the Plan as of July 1, 1961, if classifi ed as a twelve 
month employee. Ten-month employees were eligible to participate in the Plan as of July 1, 1971. 
The Plan’s fi scal year end is August 31. The net pension liability reported for period ending August 31, 
2017 was measured as of August 31,2017, using the total pension liability that was determined by an 
actuarial valuation as August 31, 2017.

The Plan’s policy is to prepare its fi nancial statements on the accrual basis of accounting. The Plan 
does not issue a separate, publicly-available fi nancial report.

Measurement Date
A measurement date of August 31, 2017 has been used for GASB 68 reporting.

Benefi ts provided
The Plan provides disability and death benefi ts. Benefi ts at retirement are based upon years of 
service and the average earnable compensation of an eligible employee during any three years that 
provide the highest average earnable compensation and are adjusted for infl ation after retirement. 
Benefi ts at early retirement are reduced by an early retirement factor. Employees are considered 
vested on or after completing fi ve years of service, or on or after attaining age 60. Employees 
who retire at or after age 65 or after age 50 with 30 years of credited service are entitled to an 
annual retirement benefi t, payable monthly for life, in an amount equal to 0.40 percent of eff ective 
compensation multiplied by credited future service on and after September 1, 1984, and 1.625 
percent of eff ective compensation not to exceed $100 plus 0.25 percent of the amount by which 
eff ective compensation exceeds $100 multiplied by credited past service before September 1, 1984, 
and 1.625 percent of past service compensation in excess of $100 plus 0.25 percent of past service 
compensation in excess of $100 times credited past service. There have been no changes in plan 
provisions during the measurement period. 

Contributions
Plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. Employer 
contributions are recognized when due and a formal commitment has been made to provide the 
contributions. Benefi ts and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the 
terms of the Plan. The funding policy of the Plan provides for monthly contributions at actuarially-
determined rates, which will remain relatively level over time as a percentage of payroll and 
will accumulate suffi  cient assets to meet the cost of all basic benefi ts when due. The basis for 
determining contributions is an actuarially determined contribution rate that is calculated each year 
in the Plan’s actuarial valuation report. Starting January 2013, contributions were made at the rate 
of 1.50% of covered payroll. During FY 2018, only ACPS employees contributed to the Plan. These 
contributions totaled $2.5 million for the fi scal year ended June 30, 2018. Administrative costs of the 
Plan are paid from the Plan’s assets. 
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Investment policy
The objective of the Plan is to maintain actuarial soundness so that funds will be available to meet 
contractual benefi t obligations. The investment policy may be amended by the Board at any time. 
Principal Financial Advisors, Inc., a registered investment advisor and wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Principal Financial Group, has been hired to manage the asset allocation strategy for the Plan. The 
following was the Plan’s adopted asset allocation policy as of August 31, 2017.

Concentrations
As of the measurement date, the plan had investments (other than US Government and US Government 
guaranteed obligations) in only Principal Financial Group, totaling $122.9 million, that represented 5 
percent or more of the Plan’s fi duciary net position.

Annual Money-Weighted Rate of Return
For the Plan year ended August 31, 2017, the annual money-weighted rate of return on plan investments 
for the measurement period is 8.91%. The money-weighted rate of return is calculated as a rate of 
return on pension plan investments incorporating the timing and amount of cash fl ows. This return is 
calculated net of investment expenses.

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return
For the plan year ended August 31, 2017, the expected long-term rate of return assumption as of the 
end of period is 6.00%. The expected long-term return on plan assets assumption was developed as 
a weighted average rate based on the target asset allocation of the plan and the Long-Term Capital 
Market Assumptions (CMA) 2016. The capital market assumptions were developed with a primary 
focus on forward-looking valuation models and market indicators. The key fundamental economic 
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inputs for these models are future infl ation, economic growth, and interest rate environment. Due 
to the long-term nature of the pension obligations, the investment horizon for the CMA 2016 is 20-
30 years. In addition to forward-looking models, historical analysis of market data and trends was 
refl ected, as well as the outlook of recognized economists, organizations and consensus CMA from 
other credible studies. 

Actuarial Assumptions
The actuarial assumptions used in the August 31, 2017 valuation were based upon the results of an 
actuarial assumption review for the fi ve-year period of September 1, 2007 to August 31, 2012.

During the plan year ended August 31, 2017, the following assumptions for the Supplemental plan 
were changed.
• The discount rate and long-term rate of return on plan assets decreased from 6.50% to 6.00%.
• The rate of infl ation assumption decreased from 2.25% to 2.00%. 
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Increase(Decrease)

Projected Cash Flows
Projected cash fl ows are based upon the underlying assumptions used in the development of the 
accounting liabilities.

Discount Rate
The discount rate used to determine the end of period Total Pension Liability is 6.0%. The discount rate 
is a single rate that incorporates the long-term rate of return assumption. The long-term rate of return 
assumption was applied to the projected benefi t payments from 2016 to 2112. Benefi t payments after 
2113 are projected to be $0.00.

Net Pension Liability
The net pension liability reported for ACPS fi scal year end of June 30, 2018 was measured as of 
August 31, 2017, using the total pension liability that was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
August 31, 2017.

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate
The following presents the net pension liability of the Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan using 
the discount rate of 6.0%, as well as what the pension net pension liability would be if it was calculated 
using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (5.00%) or one percentage point higher (7.00%) 
than the current rate.
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Pension Expense and Deferred Outfl ows of Resources and Deferred Infl ows of Resources Related to 
Pensions
The Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan pension expense for the fi scal year ended June 30, 
2018 is $4.6 million.   For the year ended June 30, 2018, ACPS reported deferred infl ows of resources 
related to pensions for this Plan from the following sources:

Amounts reported as deferred infl ows and outfl ows of resources related to pensions will be recognized 
in the pension expense as follows:

Payables to the Pension Plan
At June 30, 2018, ACPS reported payables to the Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan of $0.2 
million.

The following is a summary of fi duciary net position of the Plan as of June 30, 2018.
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The following is a summary of changes in fi duciary net position of the Plan for the year ended June 
30, 2018.
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NOTE 8. Other Post Employment Benefi ts (OPEB)

A. ACPS OPEB Trust Fund

Plan Description and Plan Administration

The School Board administers a single-employer defi ned benefi ts healthcare plan. It provides medical 
insurance benefi ts to eligible retired school employees and benefi ciaries. In May 2009, the School 
Board authorized the establishment of a trust for the purpose of accumulating and investing assets to 
fund Other Post Employment Benefi ts. 

ACPS invests the OPEB Trust Fund’s assets with the Virginia Pooled OPEB Trust Fund (Pooled Trust) 
sponsored by the Virginia Association of Counties and the Virginia Municipal League (VACo/VML). 
The Pooled Trust is an investment pooling vehicle created to allow participating local governments, 
school divisions, and authorities in the State to accumulate and invest assets to fund other post-
employment benefi ts. Funds of participating jurisdictions are pooled and invested in the name of the 
Pooled Trust. ACPS’ respective shares in the Pooled Trust are reported in the OPEB Trust Fund’s 
fi nancial statements. The Pooled Trust is governed by a Board of Trustees (Trustees), composed of 
nine (9) elected members. Trustees are elected by participants in the Pooled Trust, whose votes are 
weighted according to each Participating Employer’s share of total Trust Fund assets. Investment 
decisions are made by the Trustees of the Pooled Trust. The Trustees are responsible for managing 
Pooled Trust assets through the appointment and oversight of investment managers and with the 
guidance of an investment advisor. 

Eligibility
Participants in the ACPS Plan must meet the eligibility requirements based on service earned with 
ACPS and prior service earned from other Virginia agencies to be eligible to receive benefi ts upon 
retirement. Participants who do not retire directly from active service are not eligible for the benefi ts. In 
addition, participants must meet one of the following criteria:

VRS Tier 1:
•  Attained the age of 50 with at least 30 years of service for unreduced pension retirement benefi ts.
• Attained the age of 50 with at least 10 years of service for reduced pension retirement benefi ts.
• Attained the age of 65 with at least 5 years of service.

VRS Tier 2:
• Age plus service equals 90 for unreduced pension retirement benefi ts. 
•  Age 60 with at least 5 years of service for reduced pension retirement benefi ts.
• Social Security Normal Retirement Age with at least fi ve years of service. 

Benefi ts

Program participants may continue medical coverage by paying the appropriate subsidized premium 
which range from $0.00 to $1,786.44, based on the medical plan under which the retiree is covered.
These rates provide an implicit subsidy for retirees because, on an actuarial basis, their current and 
future claims are expected to result in higher costs to the program on average than those of active 
employees. The subsidies in this program are accounted for in the ACPS OPEB Trust Fund. In FY
2018, ACPS contributed up to $265.00 for each participant.
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Membership and Key Actuarial Assumptions 
Active plan members 2,403 
Inactive/Deferred Vested        0 
Retirees and spouses    615  
Total 3,018 
Covered Payroll $160,188,472 
Long-term Expected Rate of Return 7.0 percent 
Salary increases, including Inflation 3.0 percent  
Ultimate Rate of Medical Inflation 4.5 percent 
Discount Rate 7.0 percent 
Healthcare Cost Trend Rates UHC POS: 8% in 2018 then grading from 9% to 

4.5% over 15 years; UHC MA-PD: 0% in 2018 then 
grading from 12% to 4.5% over 15 years; Kaiser: 
1.25% in 2018 then grading from 7% to 4.5% over 
15 years; Kaiser Medicare Plus: : 1.25% in 2018 
then grading from 10% to 4.5% over 15 years 

Mortality rates:   
- Pre-Retirement RP-2014 White Collar Employee Rates to age 

80, White Collar Healthy Annuitant Rates at 81 
and older with Scale BB to 2020.  

- Post-Retirement RP-2014 White Collar Employee Rates to age 
49, White Collar Healthy Annuitant Rates at 
age 50 and older projected with Scale BB to 
2020; males 1% increase compounded from 
ages 70 to 90; females setback 3 years with 
1.5% increase compounded from ages 65 to 
74 and 2% increase compounded from ages 75 
to 90. 

- Post-Disablement RP-2014 Disabled Mortality Rates projected with 
Scale BB to 2020; 115% of rates for males and 
females.  

 

For employees hired July 1, 2008 or earlier: ACPS contributes $265 per month for retiree medical 
coverage. This Board contribution will not exceed the premium for the coverage tier elected. The 
retiree and dependents pay the remainder of the premium, if any.

For employees hired after July 1, 2008: The retiree must complete fi ve years of vesting service with 
ACPS to receive a Board contribution. ACPS contributes a pro-rated amount of $265 per month equal 
to 5% per year of service with ACPS (including the fi ve vesting years) and other VRS employers for 
retiree medical coverage. A maximum of 20 years of service will be credited toward the contribution 
made by ACPS. This Board contribution will not exceed the premium for the coverage tier elected. 
The retiree and dependents pay the remainder of the premium, if any.

Actuarial Assumptions

The key actuarial assumptions used in the January 1, 2018 valuation are refl ected in the chart below.
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Investment Policy

The Pooled Trust Board of Trustees has the responsibility for managing the investment process. In 
fulfi lling this responsibility, the Trustees will establish and maintain investment policies and objectives. 
Within this framework, the Trustees will monitor and evaluate the investment managers, bank 
custodian, and other parties, to monitor whether operations conform to the guidelines and actual 
results meet objectives. If necessary, the Trustees are responsible for making changes to achieve 
this. The investment objective of the Pooled Trust is to maximize total long-term rate of return with 
reasonable risk by seeking capital appreciation and, secondarily, principal protection. There were no 
signifi cant changes in investment policy during fi scal year 2018.

The Trustees are responsible for setting each Portfolio’s long-term asset allocation, after taking into 
consideration expectations for asset class returns and volatility, risk tolerance and liquidity needs. 

The Pooled  Trust’s assets will be separately managed by professional investment managers or 
invested in professionally managed investment vehicles. Each Portfolio will be invested in a broadly 
diversifi ed manner by asset class, style and capitalization, which will control volatility levels.  The 
target allocation for each class of investment is shown below.

The expected long-term real rates of return in the above table are arithmetic; they are used as inputs 
for the fi nancial model to arrive at the median returns for the portfolio which are geometric. When 
calculating the median rates, which are used to set the target rates, the intermediate term rates are 
used for the fi rst 10 years and the long-term rates for all years thereafter.

 Discount Rate

The discount rate as of June 30, 2018 is 7.00%, which is the assumed long-term expected rate of return 
on Pooled Trust investments. Projections of the Plan’s fi duciary net position have indicated that it is 
expected to be suffi  cient to make projected benefi t payments for current Plan members.

Measurement Date

The measurement date used for the OPEB Trust GASB 74 reporting is June 30, 2018.
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Increase (Decrease)

Concentrations

There are no investments in any one organization that represent 5 percent or more of the OPEB Trust 
Fund’s fi duciary net position.

Money-weighted Rate of Return

For the year ended June 30, 2018, the annual money-weighted rate of return on investments, net 
of investment expense, was 9.52 percent. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment 
performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

Net OPEB Liability

The net OPEB liability at the beginning of the current measurement year is measured as of a valua-
tion date of January 1, 2018 and rolled forward to June 30, 2018. The net OPEB liability at the end 
of the measurement year, June 30, 2018, is measured as of a valuation date of January 1, 2018 and 
projected to June 30, 2018. In future years, valuations will be completed every other year, assuming 
there are no signifi cant events between the years. Each valuation will be rolled forward to provide 
two years of OPEB liability. 

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements



Page 96 

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the Other Post-Retirement Employee Benefi ts Trust  
Fund using the discount rate of 7.0%, as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if it was calculated 
using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (6.0%) or one percentage point higher (8.0%) 
than the current rate.

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Trend Rate

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the Other Post-Retirement Employee  Benefi ts Trust  
Fund using the current base healthcare trend rate, as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if it 
was calculated using a healthcare trend rate that is one percentage point lower (-1%) or one percentage 
point higher (+1%) than the base rate.

OPEB expense and deferred outfl ows of resources and deferred infl ows of resources related to OPEB

For the year ended June 30, 2018 the OPEB expense is $1,831,567. At June 30, 2018, the deferred 
outfl ows of resources and deferred infl ows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources: 
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Contributions

Contribution requirements of ACPS are established and may be amended by the School Board. The 
required contributions were actuarially-determined and are based upon projected pay-as-you go 
fi nancing requirements with additional amount to prefund benefi ts. The costs of administering the plan 
are paid for by the OPEB Trust Fund through the use of investment income and employer contributions. 
For the period ending June 30, 2018, ACPS contributed $1.7 million for current costs and an additional 
$0.9 million to prefund benefi ts.

The current funding policy of ACPS is to contribute the pay-as-you-go benefi t payments to the Trust 
Fund while contributing the actuarially determined contribution minus the pay-as-you-go benefi t 
payments to the Pooled Trust. ACPS expects to contribute pay-as-you-go benefi t payments to the 
Trust over the next 20 years. The assets were then projected forward refl ecting known contributions 
through June 30, 2018, and then assuming the funding policy is followed going forward. Using the long-
term expected rate of return of 7.00%, the assets are projected to always be greater than the expected 
benefi t payments in any year.

The ACPS OPEB Trust does not issue a stand-alone fi nancial report and is not included in the report 
of another entity.

Additional disclosures on changes in schools OPEB liability, related ratios, and employer contributions 
can be found in the RSI following the notes to the Financial Statements.

B. VRS Employee Health Insurance Credit Program OPEB - Teachers

Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies 

The Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Teacher Employee Health Insurance Credit (HIC) Program is a 
multiple-employer, cost-sharing plan.  The Teacher Employee HIC Program was established pursuant 
to §51.1-1400 et seq. of the Code of Virginia, as amended, and which provides the authority under which 
benefi t terms are established or may be amended.  The Teacher Employee HIC Program is a defi ned 
benefi t plan that provides a credit toward the cost of health insurance coverage for retired teachers. 
For purposes of measuring the net Teacher Employee HIC Program OPEB liability, deferred outfl ows of 
resources and deferred infl ows of resources related to the Teacher Employee HIC Program OPEB, and 
the Teacher Employee HIC Program OPEB expense, information about the fi duciary net position of the 
Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Teacher Employee HIC Program; and the additions to/deductions 
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from the VRS Teacher Employee HIC Program’s net fi duciary position have been determined on the 
same basis as they were reported by VRS.  For this purpose, benefi t payments are recognized when 
due and payable in accordance with the benefi t terms.  Investments are reported at fair value. 

General Information about the Teacher Employee Health Insurance Credit Program 
Plan Description 

All full-time, salaried permanent (professional) employees of public school divisions are automatically 
covered by the VRS Teacher Employee HIC Program.  This plan is administered by the Virginia 
Retirement System (the System), along with pension and other OPEB plans, for public employer groups 
in the Commonwealth of Virginia.  Members earn one month of service credit toward the benefi t for each 
month they are employed and for which their employer pays contributions to VRS. The HIC is a tax-
free reimbursement in an amount set by the General Assembly for each year of service credit against 
qualifi ed health insurance premiums retirees pay for single coverage, excluding any portion covering 
the spouse or dependents. The credit cannot exceed the amount of the premiums and ends upon the 
retiree’s death. 

The specifi c information for the Teacher HIC Program OPEB, including eligibility, coverage, and benefi ts 
is set out in the table below:

Contributions

The contribution requirement for active employees is governed by §51.1-1401(E) of the Code of 
Virginia, as amended, but may be impacted as a result of funding provided to school divisions by the 
Virginia General Assembly.  Each school division’s contractually required employer contribution rate 
for the year ended June 30, 2018 was 1.23% of covered employee compensation for employees in 
the VRS Teacher Employee HIC Program.  This rate was based on an actuarially determined rate from 
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an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2015.  The actuarially determined rate was expected to fi nance 
the costs of benefi ts earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to fi nance any 
unfunded accrued liability.  Contributions from the school division to the VRS Teacher Employee HIC 
Program were $1.8 million and $1.6 million for the years ended June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017, 
respectively.

Teacher Employee HIC Program OPEB Liabilities, Teacher Employee HIC Program OPEB Expense, 
and Deferred Outfl ows of Resources and Deferred Infl ows of Resources Related to Teacher Employee 
HIC Program OPEB 

At June 30, 2018, the school division reported a liability of $23.7 million for its proportionate share of 
the VRS Teacher Employee HIC Program Net OPEB Liability.  The Net VRS Teacher Employee HIC 
Program OPEB Liability was measured as of June 30, 2017 and the total VRS Teacher Employee HIC 
Program OPEB liability used to calculate the Net VRS Teacher Employee HIC Program OPEB Liability 
was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.  The school division’s proportion of the Net 
VRS Teacher Employee HIC Program OPEB Liability was based on the school division’s actuarially 
determined employer contributions to the VRS Teacher Employee HIC Program OPEB plan for the 
year ended June 30, 2017 relative to the total of the actuarially determined employer contributions 
for all participating employers.  At June 30, 2017, the school division’s proportion of the VRS Teacher 
Employee HIC Program was 1.86478% as compared to 1.85252% at June 30, 2016. 

For the year ended June 30, 2018, the school division recognized VRS Teacher Employee HIC Program 
OPEB expense of $ 1.9 million.  Since there was a change in proportionate share between June 30, 
2016 and June 30, 2017 a portion of the VRS Teacher Employee HIC Program Net OPEB expense was 
related to deferred amounts from changes in proportion.   

At June 30, 2018, the school division reported deferred outfl ows of resources and deferred infl ows of 
resources related to the VRS Teacher Employee HIC Program OPEB from the following sources:

An amount of $1.8 million reported as deferred outfl ows of resources related to the Teacher Employee 
HIC OPEB resulting from the school division’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date will 
be recognized as a reduction of the Net Teacher Employee HIC OPEB Liability in the Fiscal Year ending 
June 30, 2019.  Other amounts reported as deferred outfl ows of resources and deferred infl ows of 
resources related to the Teacher Employee HIC OPEB will be recognized in the Teacher Employee HIC 
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OPEB expense in future reporting periods as follows:

Actuarial Assumptions 

The total Teacher Employee HIC OPEB liability for the VRS Teacher Employee HIC Program was 
based on an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method 
and the following assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward 
to the measurement date of June 30, 2017. 

Infl ation    2.5 percent 
Salary increases, including infl ation –   
Teacher Employees   3.5 percent – 5.95 percent 
Investment rate of return  7.0 percent, net of plan investment expenses, including infl ation* 

 * Administrative expenses as a percent of the market value of assets for the last experience study were found to 
be approximately 0.06% of the market assets for all of the VRS plans. This would provide an assumed investment 
return rate for GASB purposes of slightly more than the assumed 7.0%.  However, since the diff erence was 
minimal, and a more conservative 7.0% investment return assumption provided a projected plan net position that 
exceeded the projected benefi t payments, the long-term expected rate of return on investments was assumed to 
be 7.0% to simplify preparation of OPEB liabilities.  

Mortality rates – Teachers 
 
Pre-Retirement: 
RP-2014 White Collar Employee Rates to age 80, White Collar Healthy Annuitant Rates at ages 81 
and older projected with scale BB to 2020.   
 
Post-Retirement: 
RP-2014 White Collar Employee Rates to age 49, White Collar Healthy Annuitant Rates at ages 50 
and older projected with scale BB to 2020; males 1% increase compounded from ages 70 to 90; 
females set back 3 years with 1.5% increase compounded from ages 65 to 70 and 2.0% increase 
compounded from ages 75 to 90.    
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Post-Disablement: 
RP-2014 Disability Mortality Rates projected with Scale BB to 2020; 115% of rates for males and 
females. 
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2016 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial 
experience study for the four-year period from July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2016.  Changes to the 
actuarial assumptions as a result of the experience study are as follows:

Net Teacher Employee HIC OPEB Liability 

The net OPEB liability (NOL) for the Teacher Employee HIC Program represents the program’s total 
OPEB liability determined in accordance with GASB Statement No. 74, less the associated fi duciary net 
position.  As of June 30, 2017, NOL amounts for the VRS Teacher Employee HIC Program is as follows 
(amounts expressed in thousands): 

The total Teacher Employee HIC OPEB liability is calculated by the System’s actuary, and the plan’s 
fi duciary net position is reported in the System’s fi nancial statements.  The net Teacher Employee 
HIC OPEB liability is disclosed in accordance with the requirements of GASB Statement No. 74 in the 
System’s notes to the fi nancial statements and required supplementary information.
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Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 

The long-term expected rate of return on VRS System investments was determined using a log-normal 
distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected 
returns, net of VRS System investment expense and infl ation) are developed for each major asset 
class.  These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the 
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected 
infl ation.  The target asset allocation and best estimate of arithmetic real rates of return for each major 
asset class are summarized in the following table: 

(1)The above allocation provides a one-year return of 7.30%. However, one-year returns do not take 
into account the volatility present in each of the asset classes. In setting the long-term expected return 
for the system, stochastic projections are employed to model future returns under various economic 
conditions. The results provide a range of returns over various time periods that ultimately provide a 
median return of 6.83%, including expected infl ation of 2.50%. 

Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total Teacher Employee HIC OPEB was 7.00%.  The projection 
of cash fl ows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employer contributions will be made in 
accordance with the VRS funding policy and at rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution 
rates adopted by the VRS Board of Trustees.  Through the fi scal year ending June 30, 2019, the rate 
contributed by each school division for the VRS Teacher Employee HIC Program will be subject to the 
portion of the VRS Board-certifi ed rates that are funded by the Virginia General Assembly.  From July 
1, 2019 on, all agencies are assumed to contribute 100% of the actuarially determined contribution 
rates.  Based on those assumptions, the Teacher Employee HIC OPEB plan’s fi duciary net position was 
projected to be available to make all projected future benefi t payments of current active and inactive 
employees.  Therefore the long-term expected rate of return was applied to all periods of projected 
benefi t payments to determine the total Teacher Employee HIC OPEB liability.  
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Sensitivity of the School Division’s Proportionate Share of the Teacher Employee HIC Net OPEB 
Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 

The following presents the school division’s proportionate share of the VRS Teacher Employee HIC 
Program net HIC OPEB liability using the discount rate of 7.00%, as well as what the school division’s 
proportionate share of the net HIC OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate 
that is one percentage point lower (6.00%) or one percentage point higher (8.00%) than the current 
rate: 

Teacher Employee HIC OPEB Fiduciary Net Position 

Detailed information about the VRS Teacher Employee HIC Program’s Fiduciary Net Position is 
available in the separately issued VRS 2017 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR).  A 
copy of the 2017 VRS CAFR may be downloaded from the VRS website at http://www.varetire.org/
Pdf/Publications/2017-annual-report.pdf, or by writing to the System’s Chief Financial Offi  cer at P.O. 
Box 2500, Richmond, VA, 23218-2500. 

C. VRS Group Life Insurance Program  

Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies 
 
The Virginia Retirement System (VRS) Group Life Insurance Program is a multiple employer, cost-
sharing plan.  It provides coverage to state employees, teachers, and employees of participating 
political subdivisions. The Group Life Insurance Program was established pursuant to §51.1-500 et 
seq. of the Code of Virginia, as amended, and which provides the authority under which benefi t terms 
are established or may be amended.  The Group Life Insurance Program is a defi ned benefi t plan that 
provides a basic group life insurance benefi t for employees of participating employers. For purposes 
of measuring the net Group Life Insurance Program OPEB liability, deferred outfl ows of resources 
and deferred infl ows of resources related to the Group Life Insurance Program OPEB, and Group Life 
Insurance Program OPEB expense, information about the fi duciary net position of the VRS Group 
Life Insurance Program OPEB and the additions to/deductions from the VRS Group Life Insurance 
Program OPEB’s net fi duciary position have been determined on the same basis as they were reported 
by VRS. In addition, benefi t payments are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the 
benefi t terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
General Information about the Group Life Insurance Program 
Plan Description 
 
All full-time, salaried permanent employees of the state agencies, teachers and employees of 
participating political subdivisions are automatically covered by the VRS Group Life Insurance Program 
upon employment. This plan is administered by the Virginia Retirement System (the System), along 
with pensions and other OBEB plans, for public employer groups in the Commonwealth of Virginia.   
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Within the Group Life insurance Program, ACPS employees are divided into two groups; Teachers 
(includes administrators and teachers) and Locality Employees (includes non-exempt support staff ). 
 
In addition to the Basic Group Life Insurance benefi t, members are also eligible to elect additional 
coverage for themselves as well as a spouse or dependent children through the Optional Group Life 
Insurance Program. For members who elect the optional group life insurance coverage, the insurer bills 
employers directly for the premiums. Employers deduct these premiums from members’ paychecks and 
pay the premiums to the insurer. Since this is a separate and fully insured program, it is not included as 
part of the Group Life Insurance Program OPEB.   
 
The specifi c information for Group Life Insurance Program OPEB, including eligibility, coverage and 
benefi ts is set out in the table below: 
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Contributions 
 
The contribution requirements for the Group Life Insurance Program are governed by §51.1-506 and  
§51.1-508 of the Code of Virginia, as amended, but may be impacted as a result of funding provided 
to state agencies and school divisions by the Virginia General Assembly.  The total rate for the Group 
Life Insurance Program was 1.31% of covered employee compensation. This was allocated into an 
employee and an employer component using a 60/40 split. The employee component was 0.79% 
(1.31% X 60%) and the employer component was 0.52% (1.31% X 40%). Employers may elect to pay 
all or part of the employee contribution, however, the employer must pay all of the employer contribution. 
Each employer’s contractually required employer contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 2018 
was 0.52% of covered employee compensation.  This rate was based on an actuarially determined rate 
from an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2015.  The actuarially determined rate, when combined with 
employee contributions, was expected to fi nance the costs of benefi ts payable during the year, with 
an additional amount to fi nance any unfunded accrued liability.  Total contributions to the Group Life 
Insurance Program from the entity for the Teachers group were $2.0 million for both years ended June 
30, 2018 and June 30, 2017, respectively. Contributions for the Locality group were $42,000 for both 
years ended June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017, respectively. 
  
GLI OPEB Liabilities, GLI OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outfl ows of Resources and Deferred 
Infl ows of Resources Related to the Group Life Insurance Program OPEB 
 
At June 30, 2018, ACPS reported liabilities of $ 12.2 million and $0.7 million for its proportionate share 
of the Net GLI OPEB Liability, for the Teachers and Locality groups, respectively.  The Net GLI OPEB 
Liability was measured as of June 30, 2017 and the total GLI OPEB liability used to calculate the Net 
GLI OPEB Liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.  The covered employer’s 
proportion of the Net GLI OPEB Liability was based on the covered employer’s actuarially determined 
employer contributions to the Group Life Insurance Program for the year ended June 30, 2017 relative to 
the total of the actuarially determined employer contributions for all participating employers.  At June 30, 
2017, for the Teachers group, the ACPS employer’s proportion was 0.81094 % as compared 0.79572 
% at June 30, 2016, and for the Locality group, the employer’s proportion was 0.04392 % as compared 
0.04377% at June 30, 2016,
 
For the year ended June 30, 2018, ACPS recognized GLI OPEB expense of $ 0.2 million, for the 
Teachers group and $10,000 for the Locality group.  Since there was a change in proportionate share 
between measurement dates, a portion of the GLI OPEB expense was related to deferred amounts 
from changes in proportion.

At June 30, 2018, ACPS reported deferred outfl ows of resources and deferred infl ows of resources 
related to the GLI OPEB from the following sources:
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An amount of $0.8 million reported as deferred outfl ows of resources related to the GLI OPEB resulting 
from the employer’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a 
reduction of the Net GLI OPEB Liability in the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2019.  Other amounts 
reported as deferred outfl ows of resources and deferred infl ows of resources related to the GLI OPEB 
will be recognized in the GLI OPEB expense in future reporting periods as follows:

Actuarial Assumptions 

The total GLI OPEB liability was based on an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016, using the Entry 
Age Normal actuarial cost method and the following assumptions, applied to all periods included in the 
measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2017. 

Infl ation    2.5 percent 
Salary increases, including infl ation –   
Teacher      3.5 percent – 5.95 percent 
General state/locality employees    3.5 percent – 5.35 percent 
Investment rate of return    7.0 percent, net of plan investment expenses, including infl ation* 
 * Administrative expenses as a percent of the market value of assets for the last experience study were found to 
be approximately 0.06% of the market assets for all of the VRS plans. This would provide an assumed investment 
return rate for GASB purposes of slightly more than the assumed 7.0%.  However, since the diff erence was 
minimal, and a more conservative 7.0% investment return assumption provided a projected plan net position that 
exceeded the projected benefi t payments, the long-term expected rate of return on investments was assumed to 
be 7.0% to simplify preparation of OPEB liabilities.  

Mortality rates – Teachers 
Pre-Retirement: 
RP-2014 White Collar Employee Rates to age 80, White Collar Healthy Annuitant Rates at ages 81 
and older projected with scale BB to 2020.   
 
Post-Retirement: 
RP-2014 White Collar Employee Rates to age 49, White Collar Health Annuitant Rates at ages 50 and 
older projected with scale BB to 2020; males 1% increase compounded from ages 70 to 90; females 
set back 3 years with 1.5% increase compounded from ages 65 to 70 and 2.0% increase compounded 
from ages 75 to 90.    
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Post-Disablement: 
RP-2014 Disability Mortality Rates projected with Scale BB to 2020; 115% of rates for males and 
females. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2016 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial 
experience study for the four-year period from July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2016.  Changes to the 
actuarial assumptions as a result of the experience study are as follows:

Mortality rates – Largest Ten Locality Employers – General Employees
Pre-Retirement:
RP-2014 Employee Rates to age 80, Healthy Annuitant Rates to 81 and older projected with Scale BB 
to 2020; males 95% of rates; females 105% of rates.

Post-Retirement:
RP-2014 Employee Rates to age 49, Healthy Annuitant Rates at ages 50 and older projected with Scale 
BB to 2020; males set forward 3 years; females 1.0% increase compounded from ages 70 to 90.

Post-Disablement:
RP-2014 Disability Life Mortality Table projected with scale BB to 2020; males set forward 2 years, 
110% of rates; females 125% of rates.
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2016 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial 
experience study for the period from July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2016.  Changes to the actuarial 
assumptions as a result of the experience study are as follows:
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Net GLI OPEB Liability 

The net OPEB liability (NOL) for the Group Life Insurance Program represents the program’s total 
OPEB liability determined in accordance with GASB Statement No. 74, less the associated fi duciary 
net position. As of June 30, 2017, NOL amounts for the Group Life Insurance Program is as follows 
(amounts expressed in thousands):

The total GLI OPEB liability is calculated by the System’s actuary, and each plan’s fi duciary net position 
is reported in the System’s fi nancial statements. The net GLI OPEB liability is disclosed in accordance 
with the requirements of GASB Statement No. 74 in the System’s notes to the fi nancial statements and 
required supplementary information. 

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 

The long-term expected rate of return on the System’s investments was determined using a log-normal 
distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected 
returns, net of System’s investment expense and infl ation) are developed for each major asset class. 
These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected 
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected infl ation. 
The target asset allocation and best estimate of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset 
class are summarized in the following table:

(1)The above allocation provides a one-year return of 7.30%. However, one-year returns do not take into account 
the volatility present in each of the asset classes. In setting the long-term expected return for the system, 
stochastic projections are employed to model future returns under various economic conditions. The results 
provide a range of returns over various time periods that ultimately provide a median return of 6.83%, including 
expected infl ation of 2.50%.
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Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total GLI OPEB liability was 7.00%. The projection of cash 
fl ows used to determine the discount rate assumed that member contributions will be made per the 
VRS guidance and the employer contributions will be made in accordance with the VRS funding 
policy at rates equal to the diff erence between actuarially determined contribution rates adopted by 
the VRS Board of Trustees and the member rate. Through the fi scal year ending June 30, 2019, the 
rate contributed by the entity for the GLI OPEB will be subject to the portion of the VRS Board-certifi ed 
rates that are funded by the Virginia General Assembly. From July 1, 2019 on, employers are assumed 
to contribute 100% of the actuarially determined contribution rates. Based on those assumptions, the 
GLI OPEB’s fi duciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefi t 
payments of eligible employees. Therefore the long-term expected rate of return was applied to all 
periods of projected benefi t payments to determine the total GLI OPEB liability.

Sensitivity of the Employer’s Proportionate Share of the Net GLI OPEB Liability to Changes in the 
Discount Rate 

The following presents the employer’s proportionate share of the net GLI OPEB liability using the 
discount rate of 7.00%, as well as what the employer’s proportionate share of the net GLI OPEB 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (6.00%) 
or one percentage point higher (8.00%) than the current rate:

Group Life Insurance Program Fiduciary Net Position 

Detailed information about the Group Life Insurance Program’s Fiduciary Net Position is available in the 
separately issued VRS 2017 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). A copy of the 2017 VRS 
CAFR may be downloaded from the VRS website at http://www.varetire.org/Pdf/Publications/2017-
annual-report.pdf, or by writing to the System’s Chief Financial Offi  cer at P.O. Box 2500, Richmond, 
VA, 23218-2500.

On the following page is a summary of deferred outfl ows and infl ows of resources and net OPEB 
liabilities for the various OPEB programs as June 30, 2018.
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NOTE 9. Long-term Liabilities

The change in long-term liabilities within the government-wide fi nancial statements during the year 
consists of the following:

Under the modifi ed accrual basis of accounting used in the fund fi nancial statements for the governmental 
funds, expenditures are not recognized for transactions that are not normally paid with expendable 
available fi nancial resources. For compensated absences, the General Fund refl ects a liability of $0.5 
million for amounts due to terminated or retired employees as of June 30, 2018. In the government-
wide statement of activities, however, which is presented on the accrual basis, expenses and liabilities 
are reported regardless of when fi nancial resources are available. See Note 6 for an explanation of the 
Rent Abatement Accrual. The adjustment from modifi ed accrual to full accrual is composed of the items 
in the table below. 

The General Fund is used to liquidate the long-term liabilities for compensated absences, capital leases,  
and workers compensation. The General Fund and Health Benefi ts Fund were used to liquidate the 
long-term liability for the net of OPEB obligation. 

NOTE 10. Risk Management

ACPS is exposed to various losses related to torts: theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors 
and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. It is the policy of ACPS to retain risks of 
losses in those areas where it believes it is more economical to manage risks internally and account for 
any claims settlement in the General Fund. 

ACPS carries commercial insurance on all other risks of loss, including property, theft, auto liability, 
physical damage and general liability insurance through the Virginia Municipal League. Settled claims 
resulting from these risks have not exceeded commercial reinsurance coverage for the past three years. 
There were no material reductions in insurance coverage from coverage in the prior fi scal year nor did 
settlements exceed coverage for any of the past three fi scal years. ACPS also carries catastrophic 
medical insurance for Virginia High School League Student participants.
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Self-Insurance

ACPS is self-insured for workers’ compensation. Claims are processed by a third-party administrator 
under contract with ACPS per statutory requirements of the Virginia Workers’ Compensation Act. The 
current portion is recorded as an accrued liability in the General Fund and the government-wide fi nancial 
statements. There were no material reductions in insurance coverage from the prior fi scal year nor did 
settlements exceed coverage for any of the past three fi scal years. 

In July 2013, ACPS established a Health Benefi ts Fund to better manage health care expenses within 
ACPS. ACPS off ers several health insurance programs to employees and retirees. Medical insurance is 
off ered through Kaiser Permanente and an ACPS self-insured plan, administered by United Healthcare. 
Dental and vision care are also off ered to employees and retirees.

This fund was established by transferring all healthcare insurance account balances from the General 
Fund into the Health Benefi ts Fund, including the liability for estimated healthcare claims that have been 
incurred but not reported (IBNR). The amount of expenditures did not exceed funds that are available 
to pay the claims. 

Liabilities for workers compensation and self-insured health programs are reported when it is probable 
that losses have occurred and the amounts of the losses can be reasonably estimated. Liabilities 
include an amount for claims that have been incurred but not reported to date. Liabilities are determined 
using a combination of actual historical claims experience and actuarially determined amounts and 
include incremental claim adjustment expenses and estimated recoveries. ACPS uses independent 
contractors to process workers compensation and health  claims and records a provision and liability in 
the government-wide statements and General Fund (current portion only) which includes an estimate of 
incurred but not reported claims.

Exceptions to the self-insurance program are made when insurance coverage is available and when 
premiums are cost eff ective.

Changes in the estimated claims payable for worker’s compensation and self-insured health programs 
during the fi scal years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 were as follows:
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       Total Nonspendable

       Total Restricted

       Total Committed

       Total Assigned

       Total Unassigned
       Total Spendable

NOTE 11. Contingent Liabilities

ACPS receives fi nancial assistance from numerous federal, state and local government agencies 
in the form of grants. The disbursement of funds received under these programs generally requires 
compliance with terms and conditions specifi ed in the grant agreements. Certain expenditures of these 
funds are subject to audit by the grantors. ACPS is contingently liable to refund amounts received in 
excess of allowable expenditures. In the opinion of management, no material refunds (if any) will be 
required as a result of expenditures disallowed by the grantor agencies.

NOTE 12. Fund Balance Disclosure

The constraints placed upon fund balance for the governmental funds are presented below:
ACPS’ governmental fund balances, as of June 30, 2018, were classifi ed as follows:

NOTE 13. Restatement of Net Position 

ACPS adopted GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment 
Benefi ts Other Than Pensions, which improves accounting and fi nancial reporting by state and local 
governments for postemployment benefi ts other than pensions (other postemployment benefi ts or 
OPEB). This pronouncement requires ACPS to record a “Net OPEB Liability” if the obligation for OPEB 
benefi ts attributable to past service exceeds the resources held in the OPEB trust fund to pay benefi ts 
or a “Net OPEB Asset” if the resources held in the pension trust fund to pay benefi ts exceeds the 
obligation for pension benefi ts attributable to past service.
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This pronouncement also requires the restatement of ACPS’ June 30, 2017, net position of governmental 
activities as follows:
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The Required Supplementary Information 
subsection includes:

• Budgetary comparison schedule for the 
General Fund

• Budgetary comparison schedule for the 
Grants and Special Projects Fund

• Budgetary comparison schedule for the 
School Nutrition Fund

• Schedule of employer contributions for 
the pension and other employee benefi t 
trust funds

• Schedule of changes in net pension 
and OPEB liabilities for the Pension and 
OPEB trust funds

Alexandria City Public Schools
A Component Unit of the City of Alexandria, Virginia

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
 (Unaudited)

ACPS’ goal #4
Facilities and the Learning Environment: ACPS will provide 

optimal and equitable learning environments.



Budgetary Comparison Schedule
General Fund

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
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Budgetary Comparison Schedule

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
Grants and Special Projects Fund
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Budgetary Comparison Schedule

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
School Nutrition Fund
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Last 10 Fiscal Years (1)

Required Supplementary Information
Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

For the Fiscal year Ended June 30, 2018

Schedule of Employer Contributions
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Money-Weighted Rate of Return
Last 10 Fiscal Years (1)

Required Supplementary Information
Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

For the Fiscal year Ended June 30, 2018

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability
Last 10 Fiscal Years (1)
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Required Supplementary Information
Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

For the Fiscal year Ended June 30, 2018

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability
Last 10 Fiscal Years (1)
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Required Supplementary Information
Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

For the Fiscal year Ended June 30, 2018

Schedule of Employer's Share of Net Pension Liability
Last 10 Fiscal Years (1)
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Money-Weighted Rate of Return
Last 10 Fiscal Years (1)

Required Supplementary Information
Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

For the Fiscal year Ended June 30, 2017

Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability
Last 10 Fiscal Years (1)
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Required Supplementary Information
Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

For the Fiscal year Ended June 30, 2018

Schedule of Employer's Share of Net OPEB Liabilities for Healthcare Credit Insurance and  Group Life Insurance
Last 10 Fiscal Years (1)
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A. Budgetary information

 The following presents the procedures by the School Board in establishing the budgetary data refl ected 
in the fi nancial statements and other budget information:

The Superintendent is required by Section 22.1-92 of the Code of Virginia to prepare, with the approval 
of the Board, and submit to the City Council a General Fund budget request of the amount needed 
during the next fi scal year. The Board holds at least two public hearings before it gives fi nal approval 
for the requested budget. The City Council is also required by City Charter to hold a public hearing on 
the General Fund budget at which time all interested persons are given an opportunity to comment. 
The legal level of budgetary control for the General Fund is at the department level (i.e., Offi  ce of the 
Superintendent, Adult Education, Pupil Transportation, Board of Education Offi  ce, and the individual 
schools). 

Formal budgetary integration, including encumbrance accounting, is employed as a management 
control device during the year for governmental funds. The budget is presented on the modifi ed accrual 
basis of accounting. Accordingly, the accompanying Budgetary Comparison Schedule presents GAAP 
expenditures.  Management is authorized to transfer funds within major categories of expenditure (i.e., 
administration, instruction, salaries, benefi ts, etc.) up to $25,000. Transfers in excess of $25,000 require 
the approval of the superintendent; however, revisions that alter the total expenditures of the General 
Fund must be approved by the School Board. The legally-adopted budget cannot be exceeded.

B. Pension and Other Employee Benefi ts

Multiple year trend information for the Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan, the VRS Teacher 
Retirement Plan, the VRS Political Subdivision Retirement Plan, as well as Other Post-Employment 
Benefi t (OPEB) Trust Fund is presented as required supplementary information.  This information is 
intended to help users assess the funding status on a going concern basis, and the progress made in 
accumulating assets to pay benefi ts when due.

For the Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan, the VRS Teacher Retirement Plan and the VRS 
Political Subdivision Retirement Plan and the OPEB Trust Fund, the schedule of employer contributions 
provides a comparison of the actuarially/contractually required contributions with actual contributions. 
Actuarially/contractually required contributions are also shown as a percentage of covered payroll, as 
well as a percentage of actual contributions made. Covered payroll, as defi ned in GASB 82, is the total 
pensionable payroll of employees that are provided with pensions through the pension plan.

Information pertaining to the Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan, VRS Teacher and Political 
Subdivision Plans and the OPEB Trust Fund can be found in notes 7 and 8, respectively, in the notes to 
the basic fi nancial statements.

C.  Retirement Plan Changes of Benefi t Terms

There have been no actuarially material changes to the Virginia Retirement System benefi t 
provisions since the prior actuarial valuation. The 2014 valuation includes Hybrid Retirement 
Plan members for the fi rst time. The hybrid plan applies to most new employees hired on or 
after January 1, 2014 and not covered by enhanced hazardous duty benefi ts. Because this is 
still a fairly new benefi t and the number of participants was relatively small, the impact on the 
liabilities as of the measurement date of June 30, 2017 is not material.
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There have been no changes to the Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan benefi t 
provisions for fi scal year 2018.

D. Retirement Plan Changes of Assumptions 

For the VRS Political Subdivision Retirement Plan, the following changes in actuarial 
assumptions were made eff ective June 30, 2016 based on the most recent experience study 
of the System for the four-year period ending June 30, 2016: 
Largest 10 – Non-LEOS: 

All Others (Non 10 Largest) – Non-LEOS: 

For the VRS Teacher Retirement Plan, the following changes in actuarial assumptions were 
made eff ective June 30, 2016 based on the most recent experience study of the System for 
the four-year period ending June 30, 2016: 

Financial-Notes to the Required Supplementary Information
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For the Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan, we changed the following assumptions: 
• The discount rate and long-term rate of return on plan assets have decreased from 6.50% 

to 6.00%.
• The infl ation assumption has decreased from 2.25% to 2.00%. 
The net eff ect of these changes was to increase the Actuarially Determined Contribution.
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The Other Supplementary Information subsections include the following:

• Combining statements for the pension and other employee benefi t trust funds

• Statement of changes in assets and liabilities for the student activity fund

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
(Unaudited)

ACPS’ goal #5 
Health and Wellness: ACPS will promote eff orts to enable 

students to be healthy and ready to learn.



Page 130 

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Financial-Other Supplementary Information

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

Pension and Other Employee Benefi ts Trust Funds are used to account for assets held by Alexandria 
City Public Schools (ACPS) in a trustee capacity under terms of a formal trust agreement.

• Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan is a single-employer defi ned benefi t plan for eligible 
full-time employees. It accounts for assets held in trust by Principal Financial Group for ACPS.  

• ACPS Other Post-Employment Benefi ts Trust (OPEB) accounts for accumulating and investing 
assets for ACPS’ post-employment health benefi t subsidies for eligible retirees and their surviving 
spouses.

The Student Activity Fund is used to account for funds held by a school in a trustee capacity or as an 
agent for students, club organizations, teachers and the general administration of the school.



Total assets

Total liabilities

Total net position held in trust

Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

June 30, 2018
Pension and Other Post-Employment Benefit Trust Funds
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Total deductions

Net position - July 1, 2017

Net position - June 30, 2018

Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
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Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities
Student Activity Fund

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
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STATISTICAL SECTION

ACPS’ goal #6
Eff ective and Effi  cient Operations: ACPS will be effi  cient, eff ective, and 

transparent in its business operations.

This part of the Alexandria City Public Schools Comprehensive Annual Financial Report presents 
detailed information as a context for understanding what the information in the fi nancial statements, note 
disclosures, and require supplementary information says about the School System’s overall fi nancial 
health.

Financial Trends
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader comprehend how the School System’s 
fi nancial performance and well-being have changed over time.

Revenue Capacity
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the School System’s most signifi cant 
local revenue source, food service sales.

Debt Capacity
This schedule presents information to help the reader assess the 
aff ordability of the School System’s current level of outstanding capital lease 
debt.

Demographic and Economic Information
These schedules off er demographic and economic indicators to help the 
reader understand the environment within which the School System’s 
fi nancial activities take place.

Operating Information
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader 
understand how the information in the School System’s fi nancial report 
relates to the services the School System provides and the activities it 
performs.

Source: 
Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from 
the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the relevant year. 
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Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Statistical Section-Independent Auditor’s Report

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
CLAconnect.com

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Government Auditing Standards 

deficiency in internal

material weakness

significant deficiency
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Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Statistical Section-Independent Auditor’s Report

Government Auditing Standards

Government Auditing Standards
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